Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited

REFEZRABRAF

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(RESHEAMA LI EIRZ 7)
Stock Code B 13X5%: 1480

Annual Refoirli 2 O 2 3



Contents B %

O 00 N U1 N

28
46
62
68
69

70

72

74
76

Corporate Information

Chairman’s Statement

Financial Highlights

Financial Summary

Management Discussion and Analysis
Directors and Senior Management Profile
Corporate Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor’s Report
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to Financial Statements

N A NP
\
}

A

\
\

NAEEF

ETR®E

MR

MR

ERET BRI
EXREREEEME
ERERARE
EFgmE
BB RS
FRERR

mAazEkER
FAMBIRRR
RAaESEHR

HERERER
BTSSR MY




Corporate Information

DNEEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mrs. Chan Yung (Chairman, appointed on 1 August 2023)
Mr. Chan Wing Yin (Resigned as Chairman on 1 August 2023)

Mr. Chan Yan Wing

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lai Hau Yin, FCPA, FCPA (Aust.)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen (Chairman)
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Mr. Chan Yan Wing

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Mr. Chan Yan Wing

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chan Yan Wing
Mr. Lai Hau Yin

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27th Floor, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Exg

BITES

RELL(EFE R-FE-=F/H—Hffw)
PRECB e (KT ==/ A—HEFHELSF)
BREBUK A

FHTES
B L

BYFHITES
EXEHLE
£l
ERERIRSE A

REWE

= BE A FCPA, FCPA (Aust.)

BTERg
BRERHRIEE (/%)

G|
EERPHEE

REREE
BB 5% ()
4B E 5L
BBSHR G
BB
BB

FWEES
EEREE ()
BB 5 o=

B2 RS o
BBk
BB

REAR

BRIk A
REELE

%M

LXK 5TAD E T
HEETAD

FE A R F S B B i H D
BSH R BE2E 7955
REth—RE2718

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



Corporate Information

NEER

LEGAL ADVISER

DeHeng Law Offices (Hong Kong) LLP
28/F, Henley Building

5 Queen’s Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

Room 3507, 35/F

Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 809-810

Kwong Sang Hong Centre
151-153 Hoi Bun Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon
Hong Kong

HEADQUARTERS IN THE PRC

81 Lijing South Road (East Main Gate)
No. 8 Yantat Road (West Gate)
Pingshan New District

Shenzhen

The PRC

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Bank Corporation Limited
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia)

Bank of China (Shenzhen Pingshan Branch)
Agricultural Bank of China (Shenzhen Pingshan Branch)

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

EERER

EEEMELAH (B8 BREEETEE
BBFIR

ERREFSH

e RE 2818

BBPIR
ERANEFR 155
BEES A ABANE
3513507 &

BRI Y
Windward 3
Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

BERBEBTEEXEME

aF

NEeEE

73838 151-153 5%
BEITH D
809-810 =

B4R EF
e

3l

BE LT
BUERE 8% (FaF9)
815k (RIER)

FEERET

R LBELRITARRAF
ERBT(FB)ERQF

A B R ERTT (GEM)

AR EIERTT ORINFFIL S1T)

B R ER1T ORYIFFILTT)

ROBFETRR

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3

Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

REfEZKRERQF / F3 2023



Corporate Information

NEER

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND BEERNBFETIE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited BEBFELABR AT

17/F, Far East Finance Centre B8

16 Harcourt Road ERE 165

Hong Kong EREEPLITE

PLACE OF LISTING Er B

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited BERMER AR AR ([H#AZAM])
(the “Stock Exchange”)

STOCK CODE B 131X 55

1480 1480

COMPANY'S WEBSITE NG b

www.yantat.com www.yantat.com

4 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the audited consolidated
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Our Group's turnover decreased from approximately HK$743.6
million in 2022 to approximately HK$629.4 million in 2023,
representing a decrease of approximately 15.4%. Gross profit
was approximately HK$167.1 million in 2023, representing a
decrease of approximately 7.6% from that of 2022. Profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
approximately HK$75.1 million in 2023, representing a decrease
of approximately 20.3% from that of 2022. The decrease in net
profit was primarily due to the decrease in sales orders from
customers due to the global downturn in the PCB market in
2023.

Printed circuit board (the "PCB”) is a technology that secures
electronic components and leads to an insulated substrate. They
play an important role in carrying and connecting electronic
components in electronic products. Therefore, many people
describe PCB as the “the mother of electronic products”. It is
widely used in the fields of communication electronics, consumer
electronics, computers, automotive electronics, industrial
controller, medical devices, national defense and aerospace, etc.
It is everywhere around modern electronic world. Due to the
wide market of downstream consumers of PCB products, this
industry is less affected as compared to other industries with a
single downstream industry, and the total output value of the
global PCB industry is mainly closely related to the
macroeconomic conditions.

The PCB industry’s business environment is affected by a number
of factors, including technological innovation, international trade
policy, industry competition and environmental regulations. In
recent years, with the rapid development of the Internet of
Things, smart phones and electric vehicles, the PCB industry is
facing greater opportunities and challenges.

Technological innovation drives the development of the PCB
industry, and the application of new technologies continues to
expand the scope of product applications. Meanwhile, the
changes in international trade policy and global economic trends
also affected the industry. Competition in the industry,
particularly from Asian regions, is intense and is putting pressure
on some traditional manufacturers.

In addition, environmental regulations have imposed higher
requirements on product materials and manufacturing processes,
which have changed the operation environment of the industry
to a certain extent.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

PCB enterprises in the PRC face a variety of difficulties such as
fluctuations in the global supply chain, international trade
frictions, environmental regulations and pressure for
technological innovation. These enterprises may need to address
challenges from various aspects, including improving production
efficiency, providing higher quality products, developing
innovative technologies, and maintaining competitiveness with
the international market.

However, the PRC’'s PCB enterprises also have a number of
advantages. First of all, the PRC has a huge market demand, and
has an experienced labour force and efficient labour costs, which
leads to lower production costs. In addition, the PRC's PCB
enterprises have also made breakthroughs in technological
research and development and have well-established supply
chain systems. The Chinese government’s support in this area is
also a major advantage, such as various subsidies and policy
support. Overall, these factors give the PCB enterprises in the
PRC a competitive advantage in the global market.

The PCB industry is a substantially stable business segment which
is only slightly affected by the negative factors of the overall
situation. The range of application of PCBs is extensive, including
but not limited to 4C products, Internet-of-Things, autonomous
cars, big data as well as automobile electronics and
electrification. The development of each mode of application will
drive the demand for PCBs.

The amount of corresponding equipment and devices associated
with the rapid development of 5G is enormous, thus creating
tremendous business opportunities. Automobile electronics and
electrification involves utilization of a considerable amount of
circuit boards. The utilization of circuit boards in new energy
vehicles exceeds that of conventional vehicles by several times.
The demand for 4C products remains steady. These factors are
favorable to the future development of the electronic circuit
industry.

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to extend
my sincere gratitude to all fellow Directors, management and
our staff for their unwavering dedication and contribution to our
Group’s development. | would also like to thank all of our
shareholders, for their trust and continuous support over a
challenging but rewarding 2023.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
Chan Yung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Financial Highlights

MBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1T—-HLEE

Results

E

Revenue gz

Profit before tax PR AT A

Profit attributable to ordinary equity RAREEESTEA
holders of the Company FE(R = A

Basic earnings per share BRERZAF
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AR ANLZIR)

Diluted earnings per share BREE R
(expressed in HK cents per share) (AETREALZR)

Dividend per share BRRS

(expressed in HK cents per share)

(AZRBEILIZIR)

Financial Position

B R

Total assets
Net debts (excluding cash and bank
balances and pledged deposits)

Shareholders’ equity
Net assets per share
(expressed in HK$ per share)
Net debts to total assets
Net debts to shareholders’ equity

BEEMRE
FEB(TRERE R
RITABRA KRB HER
730)
PR s
BiEEFE
(AEFBAETTIIR)
FEBHEERE
FEBE R R

2023 2022 Change
—E-= —E-— )
HKS$'000 HK$'000 (%)
FH&xT T
629,430 743,612 (15.4)
89,288 110,908 (19.5)
75,083 94,264 (20.3)
HK31.3 cents HK39.3 cents
AL eIl (20.4)
HK31.3 cents HK39.3 cents
AL B (20.4)
HK10.0 cents HK12.0 cents
AL B (16.7)
As at 31 December
R+=-—HA=+—H
2023 2022 Change
—=E-= —_ === EE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 (%)
F#&x FHIT
1,068,718 1,058,381 1.0
(461,565) (373,094) 23.7
720,648 683,398 5.5
3.00 2.85 5.3
(43.2)% (35.3)% 22.4
(64.0)% (54.6)% 17.2
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Financial Summary

MEHE

Year ended 31 December

BE+t=-BA=+—HLEFE

in HK$'000 2022 2021 2020 2019
THIT —E-—fF —T—— —EZTF ZT-hEF
RESULTS ES
Revenue Wz 743,612 763,836 587,133 650,408
Profit before tax B B Bz A 110,908 65,217 50,547 68,056
Income tax expense FIEE (16,644) (18,973) (11,845) (12,155)
Profit for the year T A A 94,264 46,244 38,702 55,901
As at 31 December
BR+=—A=+—H
in HK$'000 2022 2021 2020 2019
T T 2 ZZTZTF ZFT-NF

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ZERESE

Total assets BERE
Total liabilities B B8R
Net assets BEFE

1,058,381 1,077,387 973,162 847,150
374,983 424,486 366,291 312,298
683,398 652,901 606,871 534,852
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The printed circuit board, also known as “PCB”, is mainly
comprised of insulation base materials and conductors. PCBs,
which support and connect electronic devices as they provide
connection between electric components, are components
required to combine a majority of electronic devices with
electronics, machinery, and chemical materials. They are also
given the name of “the mother of electronic products”.

The global economy recovered from the COVID-19, the Russia-
Ukraine conflict and various crises has shown greater resilience
than expected, with inflation declining faster than expected from
its peak in 2022, and with fewer adverse impacts than expected
on employment and economic activities. This reflects the
effective tightening policies across countries and relatively stable
interest rates. The International Monetary Fund estimated that
global growth of the global economy was approximately 3.1%
in 2023, and it is estimated to remain unchanged at 3.1% in
2024, before rising slightly to 3.2% in 2025.

Despite the threat of adverse factors such as geopolitics, high
inflation, high interest rates and de-inventory, the global PCB
output value was approximately US$73.9 billion in 2023, with a
decline of approximately 15.6% as compared to the previous
year. In the long run, the PCB industry is a connection of the
entire electronics industry chain. The booming development of
5G-related equipment, Al servers, new energy vehicles and other
markets will drive the demand for PCB. Research institutions
predict that the global PCB output value will reach approximately
US$98.4 billion in 2027.

The PCB industry has been long established, with its early
presence mainly concentrated in Europe, North America, and
Japan. Due to the global migration of the electronics sector, Asia
takes the lead in the PCB industry development on the globe.
According to the information available, PRC’s PCB output value
accounted for approximately 53.3% of global market in 2023,
and it is estimated that it will still account for more than 50% of
the global PCB market in 2028.

PCB is a necessary component of electronic products. With
continuous technological advancements, the demand for PCBs is
steady and is expected to grow continuously. The range of
application of PCBs is extensive, including communication
electronics, consumer electronics, computers, automotive
electronics, industrial controller, medical devices, national
defense and aerospace and other fields. In recent years, driven
by the demands of emerging sectors such as 5G technology,
new energy vehicles, Internet-of-Things, big data, cloud
computing, energy conservation and environmental protection,
and information security, good business opportunities will be
maintained in the PCB market.

E
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DM

New energy vehicles and automobile electronics drive the growth
of PCB demand. Automobile electronics has become a global
trend, which promotes the rapid growth of automobile PCBs.
PCBs are widely used in engine, control, safety, information and
in-vehicle systems. Compared with conventional vehicles, the
requirement of electronics for new energy vehicle is higher. The
Internet of Things of electric smart vehicles is bound to drive the
growth of the entire industry chain. Benefitting from the drive
toward automotive intellectualization, the development of smart
vehicle electrification and the development of three core systems
(batteries, motors and electric) of new energy vehicles resulted in
the considerable increase in the PCB value and volume of each
vehicle. In view of the immense effort in promoting the
development of new energy vehicle by countries around the
world, resulting in an increase in the penetration rate of new
energy vehicles and the growth of automotive electronics
market, it shall create tremendous business opportunities to the
PCB market in the future.

The new applications of PCBs will further drive the development
of the PCB industry. The 5G technology deployment will
significantly advance the progress of the PCB industry. With the
construction and promotion of 5G networks, the demand of
PCBs for communication facilities such as base stations, routers,
switches, and backbone transmission equipment will increase
significantly. According to the estimation of China Academy of
Information and Communications Technology (CAICT), the direct
output of 5G in 2025 and 2030 will be RMB3.3 trillion and
RMB6.3 trillion respectively, which will undoubtedly bring huge
market space and development opportunities for China’s PCB
industry.

Although the PCB market has an encouraging prospect, it also
faces numerous difficulties. As the PRC government has
strengthened its efforts on environmental protection,
manufacturing enterprises that fail to meet the requirements will
be subject to rectification, or even replacement or suspension.
As a result, compliant PCB manufacturers are required to
increase investments in environmental engineering and
wastewater treatment capacities, which undoubtedly adds
weight on their operating costs.

Against the large-scale capacity expansion launched by many
PCB manufacturers with excess capacity amid a growing number
of new PCB manufacturers in recent years, the market has
eventually become increasingly competitive, with the severe
involution of PCB price in 2023, and the already slim profit
margins are expected to further shrink.
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BRSKES  MIHKIIPCBHMY @ HHELERES
B HERAEHEFRENERERS  EBERENA
EYBAC RS BREEREOKE  BETEE
&R FERTEEDL B BEH=ARLEAE
MHBR RN IEERICNES - FHEPBEE
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10 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

The labor costs in China have been on the rise over the past
decade, as corporate expenditure rises due to full
implementation of policies on social security and public housing
fund. A phenomenon of “recruitment difficulty, labor shortage”
often appears in the developed coastal areas, in which case,
recruitment of frontline employees, particularly seasoned
technicians, becomes increasingly difficult. As a result, many
domestic PCB enterprises gradually relocate their production
bases to inland provinces and cities, or undergo comprehensive
reform to accelerate the process of production automation and
intellectualization to reduce the dependence on manpower and
ensure the stability of quality.

In response to clients’ requests for risk diversification and
expansion into new markets, a trend of southbound investments
appeared, with Thailand, Vietnam and Malaysia as the main
choices. With the launch of various investment schemes,
Thailand has become an emerging hub for the PCB industry, a
development that is now firmly established. Due to the
incomplete PCB supply chain in Southeast Asia, there has been a
shortage of talent prior to the commencement of formal
production. As compared to the comprehensive production
support in the mainland China, it is estimated that there will not
be a significant decline in the PRC’s PCB industry in a short
period of time.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group is an original equipment manufacturer (“OEM")
provider of PCBs and focused on the production of quality PCBs,
which meet industrial standards such as IPC Standards, as well as
the customers’ requirements.

We focused on the conventional PCBs with a well-developed
capacity to produce multi-layered and special material PCBs with
primary applications in automobiles, communication equipment,
medical devices, industrial automation equipment and consumer
electronics.

Our continuous diversification of product mix and market
coverage allowed the Group to swiftly cater for the changes in
demand from certain sectors and adjust our production output
accordingly, resulting in reduced reliance on a single product and
market. Benefited from the enormous business opportunities
generated from automobile electronics in recent years, the
proportion of our revenue generated from this sector is
correspondingly higher.

Over the past 34 years of our operation, the Group has
established a solid foundation and close relationship with our
customers. The Group provided direct and indirect services to
OEM customers across Asia, Europe, Africa, North America,
South America and Oceania, who are engaged in various
industries with many of them running in a multinational model.
Certain of our major OEM customers are leading players in their
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BEENWE DM

markets. The Group supplied PCB products directly to a number
of leading electronic manufacturing service providers, in order to
assemble finished goods of OEM for the Group’s indirect OEM
customers. To date, the Group has built up long-term
relationship with major customers, and some of them have been
working with us for over a decade. The Company believed that
these customers also considered the Group as their important
partner for their supply chain. Therefore, our profound and long-
term relationship with customers will enable the Group to know
the trend of customers’ demand more quickly.

The Group is of the view that product and process quality are
integral to its business. The Group complies with various
international quality standards and systems, including 1SO9001,
ISO14001 and IATF16949 certifications. The Group has put in
place a number of quality measures and simplification plan to
promote a culture of quality product. Quality is of paramount
importance to the business of the Group and is regularly
reviewed and improved by dedicated personnel to enhance
customer satisfaction. In addition, the Group obtained AS9100
certification in 2009 to qualify for the provision of advanced and
reliable PCBs for the aerospace industry. This is a testament to
our product quality. During 2022, the Group complies with ISO
13485 certification, proving that the Group’s quality
management system complies with the production and sales
requirement of circuit boards for medical equipment.

Apart from focusing on product quality, the Company also
focuses on staff benefits. The Company passed the 1SO45001
Occupational Health and Safety Management System
Certification in 2023. Through the international standard
certification process, we are able to identify deficiencies in the
area of staff “Occupational Safety and Health”, and focus on
improvement and enhancement, so that our staff can work in a
safe and healthy environment.

The high production cost continues to affect the PCB industry in
2023. Followed by the sweep of emission limits and
environmental protection measures across China, PCB
manufacturers are facing steep challenges. As a PCB
manufacturer, the Group needs to formulate appropriate
responses and increase the capital input in respect of
environmental protection resulting in the set-off of part of the
profits of the Group. However, viewing from another
perspective, manufacturers failing to meet the required standards
would be eliminated or would have to enhance their operation
cost in order to comply with the required standards, whereas the
Group has realized the need for environmental protection and
has made relevant investment many years ago. Therefore,
compared with those failing to meet the standards, the Group is
under less pressure in such new setting in the PCB market and
better positioned to seize opportunities.
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Although China remains to be the “World Factory”, labor costs
are no longer as low as a decade before and have gradually
increased. In addition, the labor supply is insufficient in the
coastal areas. The Group enhanced its production automation,
promoted the use and flow of production information, optimized
and improved costs and quality which could eventually lead the
Group to develop towards intelligent production in the future.

In 2021 and 2022, the imbalance between supply and demand
under the pandemic led to over-expansion of global
consumption. After the pandemic, the Group faced the pressure
of de-inventorying and interest rate hikes to curb inflation,
therefore, the global PCB industry experienced a recession in
2023 and the sales of the Group also declined in line with the
macro-environment. The Group has been focusing on the PCB
business for more than 34 years, its accumulated experience and
network are conducive to the PCB market development and its
ability to respond to emergencies. With the rapid progress of the
urbanization in Shenzhen, the Shenzhen Pingshan District
Government has also made strategic planning for promoting its
local development. Given the increased labor costs in Shenzhen
and the need to maintain competitiveness and respond to the
future change in the planned use of the current production area
of Yan Tat Printed Circuits (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., after
consultation with the Board and the professional advisers, the
Group plans to establish another production base in areas
outside Pingshan, Shenzhen to support the long-term
development of the Group. Apart from the Group's
headquarters in the PRC and the research and development
department which will remain located in Pingshan District,
Shenzhen, the bulk production capacity of the Group will be
relocated gradually to the new production base. The Group
entered into a cooperation agreement with independent third
parties in relation to the urban renewal project (the “Urban
Renewal Project”) located at the current production area in
Pingshan District. Due to the sluggish property market in the
mainland China, the parties failed to enforce the terms of the
agreement on time and the Group is actively seeking solutions.
Particular details are set out in “Financial Review — Future plans
for material investments and capital assets” below. Meanwhile,
the Group will also consider from time to time the development
of opportunities to maximize the interests for its shareholders.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% B8
in HK$'000 2022
FET —E-—F
Turnover S 743,612
Gross profit EF 180,777
Earnings before interest, taxes, B~ FIE - TEREHRTAR

depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA") (TEBITDA]) 138,028
Net profit Py 94,264

The Group's turnover for the year of 2023 was approximately
HK$629.4 million, representing a decrease of approximately
15.4% compared to that of the previous year, which was
primarily attributable to the decrease in sales orders from
customers due to the global downturn in the PCB market in
2023.

The Group’s gross profit for the year of 2023 was approximately
HK$167.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately
7.6% compared to that of the previous year. The Group’s gross
profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately 26.5%, representing an increase of approximately
2.2% compared to approximately 24.3% for the year ended 31
December 2022. The increase in gross profit margin was mainly
due to the improvement in sales mix.

The Group's total operating expenses for the year of 2023 were
approximately HK$97.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 0.1% compared to approximately HK$97.3 million
for the previous year, primarily due to the increase in selling and
distribution expenses.

The Group’s EBITDA amounted to approximately HK$106.7
million for the year of 2023 as compared to approximately
HK$138.0 million for the previous year.

The Group recorded a profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$75.1 million for
the year of 2023 as compared to approximately HK$94.3 million
for the previous year.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains decreased by approximately HK$7.1
million, or 24.5%, to approximately HK$21.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$29.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to the net
effect of the increase in bank interest income of approximately
HK$8.9 million, the decrease in government grants of
approximately HK$3.8 million, the decrease in net foreign
exchange gains of approximately HK$7.4 million, and the
decrease in income linked to recycling of approximately HK$4.4
million.
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Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
HK$0.8 million, or 4.1%, to approximately HK$20.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$19.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase was
primarily due to the increase in commission and salaries.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by approximately
HK$0.7 million, or 0.9%, to approximately HK$77.1 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately HK$77.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease was
primarily due to the net effect of the decrease in research and
development costs of approximately HK$5.2 million, and the
increase in staff salaries and welfare of approximately HK$2.8
million.

Other expenses

Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment
amounting to approximately HK$1.0 million were incurred
during the year ended 31 December 2023. As no such losses
were incurred during the previous year, other expenses
increased.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately HK$0.2 million, or
50.0%, to approximately HK$0.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 from approximately HK$0.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, primarily due to the increase in bank
loan interest resulting from an increase in interest rate during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company

The Group recorded profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the Company of approximately HK$75.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 compared to approximately HK$94.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2022, representing a
decrease of approximately 20.4%. The decrease of profit
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company was
mainly due to the net effect of the decrease in gross profit of
approximately HK$13.7 million, the decrease in other income
and gains of approximately HK$7.1 million, the increase in selling
and distribution expenses of approximately HK$0.8 million, the
decrease in general and administrative expenses of approximately
HK$0.7 million, the increase in other expenses of approximately
HK$0.6 million, and the decrease in income tax expense of
approximately HK$2.4 million.
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Property, plant and equipment

The net carrying amount as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$274.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$18.8 million from that of 31 December 2022.
This was mainly due to the net effect of (i) the depreciation of
approximately HK$26.8 million with respect to the Group’s
property, plant and equipment in the current year, (ii) the
exchange realignment loss of approximately HK$4.3 million due
to the depreciation of RMB against HKD and (iii) the total
additions and transfer in during the year of approximately
HK$10.8 million.

Trade and bills receivables

There was a decrease in trade and bills receivables of
approximately HK$23.8 million as at 31 December 2023 as
compared to that as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly
due to the decrease in sales in the fourth quarter of 2023 as
compared to the fourth quarter of 2022.

Trade payables

There was a decrease in trade payables as at 31 December 2023
of approximately HK$14.9 million as compared to that as at 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the decrease in
purchases in the fourth quarter of 2023 as compared to the
fourth quarter of 2022.

Bank borrowings

The Group had bank borrowings as at 31 December 2023 in the
sum of approximately HK$33.1 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$2.9 million from the sum of approximately
HK$36.0 million as at 31 December 2022. The main reason for
the decrease in borrowings was the net repayment of
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2023. No
financial instruments were used for hedging purposes, nor were
there any foreign currency net investments hedged by current
borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had current assets of
approximately HK$747.0 million (2022: HK$717.8 million)
including cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits
totalling approximately HK$494.7 million (2022: HK$409.1
million). As at 31 December 2023, the Group had non-current
liabilities of approximately HK$140.2 million (2022: HK$147.0
million), and its current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$207.9 million (2022: HK$228.0 million), consisting mainly of
payables arising in the normal course of operations and bank
borrowings for financing of production facilities. Accordingly,
the Group’s current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to
current liabilities, was around 3.6 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: 3.1).
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Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowings
over total equity, was approximately 0.05 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: approximately 0.05).

Treasury policies

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year of 2023. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the financial
status of its customers. To manage liquidity risks, the Board
closely monitors the Group's liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to
time.

Foreign exchange exposure

As at 31 December 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents,
pledged deposits, trade and bills receivables, trade payables,
other payables and interest-bearing bank borrowings which are
denominated in currencies other than Hong Kong dollar, and
consequently we have foreign exchange exposure from
translation of amounts denominated in foreign currencies as at
the reporting date. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group did not engage in any derivatives activities and did
not commit to any financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency exposure.

Capital structure

There has been no change in the capital structure of the
Company during the current and previous years. The capital of
the Company is comprised of ordinary shares and capital
reserves.

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, capital commitments of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$6.4 million (2022: HK$0.8
million). The increase was mainly due to the Group entered into
new agreements to purchase equipment during the year.

Dividend

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK10.0 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: HK12.0 cents per share).

The proposed dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting to be held on
Friday, 31 May 2024 and, if approved, is expected to be paid on
or about Thursday, 4 July 2024 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on
Wednesday, 12 June 2024. The dividend is declared and will be
paid in HKD.
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Dividend Policy

The Board regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to
ensure an optimal capital structure and shareholders’ return
when its dividend policy considers:

o the Group's actual and expected financial performance;
o retained profits and distributable reserves of the Group;

o return on equity and other corresponding restrictions of
the Group;

o the Group's capital requirement and surplus;
o the Group'’s liquidity position;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business, financial results and position of
the Company; and

. other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will continue to review the Group's dividend policy
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends
will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under
the applicable laws and the Company’s Articles of Association.

Closure of the Register of Members

To determine the eligibility of the shareholders of the Company
to attend the annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM")
to be held on Friday, 31 May 2024, the register of members will
be closed from Tuesday, 28 May 2024 to Friday, 31 May 2024,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
will be effected. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the
AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 27 May 2024.

In addition, to determine shareholders’ entitlement to the
dividend, the register of members will be closed from Friday,
7 June 2024 to Wednesday, 12 June 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for the entitlements to the dividend, all
completed transfers documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/
F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 pm on Thursday, 6 June 2024.
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Information on employees

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 739 employees (2022:
696 employees), including the executive Directors. Total
employee benefit expense (including Directors’ remuneration)
was approximately HK$90.8 million, as compared to
approximately HK$104.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Remuneration is determined with reference to market
norms and individual employee’s performance, qualification and
experience.

On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid with reference to
the Group's performance as well as the individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits include contributions to the Mandatory
Provident Fund scheme in Hong Kong and various welfare plans
including the provision of pension funds, medical insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by our
Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the existing
policy requirements of the local PRC government as well as share
options.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.
The Group also operates a share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 18 November 2014 (“Share Option Scheme”)
where options to subscribe for shares may be granted to the
Directors and employees of the Group.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are disclosed in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages 53 to 55 of this
annual report.

The Company did not grant any share option under the Share
Option Scheme during the current and prior years. Details of
remuneration of Directors and chief executive and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Significant investments held
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE DM

Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

Other than those disclosed in this annual report, on 8 May 2020,
the Group entered into, amongst others, a cooperation
agreement for the urban renewal project (the “Urban Renewal
Project”) located at our production base in Pingshan District,
Shenzhen, the PRC. The entering into of the cooperation
agreement and the transactions thereunder have been approved
by the shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting on 14 July 2020. As disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 24 June 2022, 14 October 2022, 1
December 2022 and 12 April 2023, payment schedule of certain
payment installments under the Urban Renewal Project has been
postponed at the request of the counterparty. However, such
payment installments have become due from and payable by the
counterparty, and remain outstanding as at the date of this
annual report. No further agreement has been made between
the parties to further postpone the payment schedule nor the
milestones of the Urban Renewal Project as at the date of this
annual report. The Company is in the course of further following
up with the counterparty on, among other things, the status of
the outstanding payment installments and the subsequent
arrangements of the cooperation agreement. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 15 May 2020, 14
July 2020, 24 June 2022, 14 October 2022, 1 December 2022
and 12 April 2023, and the circular dated 24 June 2020.

Also, the Group is currently exploring the opportunity and
proactively discussing with independent third parties in relation
to the investment of the establishment of a production base for
the production of PCBs. The Company will make further
disclosure as and when appropriate pursuant to the relevant
requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.

Charges on assets

As at 31 December 2023, certain assets of the Group as set out
below were charged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group:

(i)  investment property of the Group amounting to
approximately HK$5.8 million (2022: HK$6.0 million).

(i)  pledged deposits with banks amounting to approximately
HK$31.9 million (2022: HK$31.5 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DM

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Prospects

The PCB market experienced a serious decline in 2023. The weak
demand, overcapacity, price declines, de-inventory and other
factors in many areas led to a significant decline in output value.
Only the performances of Al, automobile and some networking
equipment-related products were relatively good in 2023.
Looking forward to 2024, the above situation remained and the
end of the year is expected to be in the closing stages. The
overall economic environment still approximated to 2023 and
the second half of 2024 is generally considered to be better than
2023.

In 2024, what we need to pay attention to is that, the most
important factor affecting the industry development this year is
neither capacity, nor inventory, but the risks of existing regional
conflicts in the world and the impact of interest rates, because
the PRC’s PCB industry accounted for a larger share of the world.
Therefore, it is impossible to avoid the impact of the global
economy and demand on the industry, and the economic
outlook will have a direct impact on the growth of the PCB
industry.

The impact of the pandemic in the previous years and the
international political instability in recent years has led to the
change in the deployment of global supply chain. Customers
demand risk diversification and enhancement in PCB industry in
regions other than China, and therefore, Southeast Asia will
become a new PCB hub. Although the local PCB industry
support is still insufficient to threaten Chinese production
enterprises in the short term, in the long term, this will still
hinder the business environment of Chinese production
enterprises.

In conclusion, the challenges ahead are becoming more severe.
Although we have diversified markets and industry segments, a
broad base of quality customers and a strong defensive posture,
the unfavourable general environment will have a negative
impact on the Company. The Company is closely monitoring
external developments and its own internal customer order
situation and will make appropriate adjustments accordingly.

Events after reporting period
There were no other significant events from the end of the
reporting period up to the date of this annual report.

RAREE
AREBR -_ZE-_=F+-A=+—HEETREAK
REBB(ZEZ_F: &) -

A=
—E_=FPCRMBEBRE NG REERAT KT
ERBTF - B TE zﬁfﬁligﬁfﬁﬁﬂuﬁﬁ
R RBARE . —LERBRERENERES

—=FRBBERLT BE_ZT_OF - MLIRW
SRITHE im'ﬁ%ﬁ]\”ﬁlfﬁﬁaﬁx R IR BT £
—ECFEYN TERAZS_NETEFER-
T =fFffo

—EONMFEEIENR STEXFREREEFE
AETRER TEEF ' MEZ2EKE AIFE Lt
& E 2R R R A R AR E - AR B PCBEZG
2IRMBEA - AEEAREZHE2IREER - FK
AHEXNEE  CEI=RZEERTYEPBEXE
HH R °

REFRIE @Igﬁ&kilB’L‘Eﬁ(/ﬁ@mélé‘éi\iﬂﬁfﬁi
HENER  NMEEFPERKDBRBERRT 85
PCBZE 3 2| B LASMb & %@EEH%&Z%%EE@PCB%%
& BAEHPBEXRENATRE  BHATEMN
BEPHELEEDLE  REKS SHEEETHEE
REEHIRE ©

MRS - RRBEE - BREBEK  HABRMERZT
EmE RITERE  REANBEEPE - BHTHER
58 EREAFHIRET - ERHEA AR BHNTE
ARBEZVBBIINESZRER  RAGANERTPR]
BEER - WREELEEMNFHE -

REBEHEER 2BH
RBERREREEAFRAPUEBMELMEAEIR -

BEEEERERAT / F3§ 2023 21



Directors and Senior Management Profile

EENEREERHE

DIRECTORS

Our Board is responsible and has general powers for the
management and conduct of the business. The following table
sets forth information regarding members of the Board as at the
date of this report:

HE

EZ0RABXEBHNERERKEE U ER T EiEE
B TREFINABRERREREETSRNENER -

Name Appointment Date Age
HE ZEBH Fie
Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. Chan Wing Yin 8 July 2014 74
PRECE S —Z-lMELANR

Mrs. Chan Yung 8 July 2014 74
PREZ+ —T-mFELHANB

Mr. Chan Yan Wing 8 July 2014 44
BREK T4 —ZE-MFE+ANH

Non-executive Director

FHTES

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong 1 November 2017 45
BREF KA —E—+F+—H—H

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming 18 November 2014 76
ERASLE —E-NE+—A+NR

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu 18 November 2014 56
ERERIB S —ZE-mE+—HA+N\R

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 30 September 2016 73
2lask e 4 —E-RFALA=TH

CHAIRMAN & EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mrs. Chan Yung (BRE), aged 74, is our chairman, executive
Director and vice president (appointed as chairman on 1 August
2023). She has participated in the management of the Group
since September 1996. Mrs. Chan is one of the directors of four
of our subsidiaries. Mrs. Chan is responsible for overseeing the
administration, purchasing and logistics of the Group, corporate
strategic planning and overall business development of the
Group. Mrs. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Yin, and the
mother of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and Mr. Chan Yan Wing.

Mrs. Chan completed her secondary school education in Fujian
province, the PRC in June 1968.
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EENSNREEERGE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Mr. Chan Yan Wing (BRR k), aged 44, is our chief executive
officer and executive Director (appointed as chief executive
officer on 1 August 2023). Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan
Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung, and the brother of Mr. Chan
Yan Kwong. Mr. Chan is one of the directors of five of our
subsidiaries.

Mr. Chan has approximately 20 years of experience in the PCB
industry. Mr. Chan joined our Group in July 2003 and is primarily
responsible for corporate strategic planning and overall business
development, overseeing the sales and marketing of the Group.

Mr. Chan graduated from University of London in the United
Kingdom with a bachelor’s degree of science in Management in
August 2002. Since 2017 till now, Mr. Chan was elected as a
member of the Shenzhen Municipal Pingshan District Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and he has been a
member and the executive director of the Youth Committee of
Hong Kong Printed Circuit Association since January 2013,
October 2017 respectively. He has been the vice chairman of the
Fujian Chamber of Commerce in Shenzhen (RYITEEE )
since January 2012. Since 2019, he has served as the executive
director of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations and
the executive deputy director of the youth committee of the
association. Since 2019, he has served as the deputy secretary of
the Friends of Wuyi. Since 2020, he has served as the vice
chairman of Hong Kong Shenzhen Youth Association. Since
2020, he has served as vice chairman of the Hong Kong Youth
Development Alliance. Since March 2021, he has served as the
vice chairman of Hong Kong Ping Shan Youth Association, in
2023, he was selected as the Outstanding Young Entrepreneur
of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area by the
Entrepreneur Alliance of the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Wing Yin (FR88 &), aged 74, is executive Director
(resigned as chairman and chief executive officer with effect
from 1 August 2023). He is the founder of the Group and has
participated in the management of the Group since January
1992. Mr. Chan is the director of all our subsidiaries. Mr. Chan is
responsible for the corporate strategic planning and overall
business development and overseeing the administration of the
Group. Mr. Chan is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung, the father of
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (the non-executive Director) and Mr. Chan
Yan Wing (the executive Director).

Before incorporation of Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited (“YT
Industrial”) in 1992, Mr. Chan was a sole proprietor conducting
business under the name of Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Co. from
September 1989, which was primarily engaged in the
manufacturing of PCBs and which enabled Mr. Chan to acquire
relevant industry knowledge and accumulate relevant experience.
Mr. Chan has more than 34 years of experience in the PCB
production and sales.
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Mr. Chan currently serves as the vice chairman of the Fujian
Chamber of Commerce in Shenzhen (% ﬂllm%aﬁ%?ﬁﬁ) the vice
chairman of The Employers’ Federation of Shenzhen (&3IIIT >
¥ EEHA D) since September 2004 and currently as the
honorary president of the highest ranking members (&= &% 5l &
BEEEER) since 2010. Mr. Chan is also currently the vice
chairman of China Printed Circuit Association (7 B EJ&4 5 87T
217 E) (CPCA) since March 2010. Mr. Chan was recognised as
“Pioneer Worker” by CPCA in 2012.

Mr. Chan attended his secondary school education in Fujian
province, the PRC from 1962 to 1964.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (FR23£), aged 45, is our non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs.
Chan Yung, and the brother of Mr. Chan Yan Wing. Mr. Chan is
one of the directors of seven of our subsidiaries.

Mr. Chan joined our Group in April 2011 and appointed as an
executive Director for the period from July 2014 to October
2017. He was primarily responsible for overseeing factory
expansion, information technology, human resources and
building management of the Group. Since November 2017, he
has been re-designated as a non-executive Director. Prior to
joining our Group, Mr. Chan worked at Benoy Limited (a private
architectural firm) from June 2006 to March 2011 with his last
position as a senior graphic designer where he was responsible
for coordinating project construction and installation and
architectural design. After his re-designation as non-executive
Director, he continues to advise the Board on operational
strategies of the Group and the furtherance of its business
portfolio. He also continues to develop in the area of project
construction and architectural design.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher diploma in graphic design in Hong
Kong Technical Colleges (currently known as Hong Kong
Institute of Vocational Education) in Hong Kong in September
1999. Mr. Chan then graduated from London College of Printing
(currently known as London College of Communication) in the
United Kingdom in May 2002 and received a bachelor’s degree
of arts in Graphic and Media Design and was awarded a
professional development award in Print Production (Print
Packaging and Buying) in August 2002. He also obtained a
master’s degree in Interactive Digital Media at The University of
Sussex in the United Kingdom in November 2004. Mr. Chan has
been a member of the Youth Committee of Hong Kong Printed
Circuit Association since January 2013.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming (§ £ 8H), aged 76, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 18 November 2014. Mr.
Chung has over 35 years of experience in manufacturing of
motor cars, toys, electronics and communications. Mr. Chung
was the executive director of L.K. Technology Holdings Limited
(stock code: 558) and Kader Holdings Company Limited (stock
code: 180). Both companies are listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chung obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration in the University of East Asia (currently known as
University of Macau) in the Macau Special Administrative Region
in May 1989. He is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen (£l)E#), aged 73, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 30 September 2016. He
is a retired banker. Mr. Lau held senior positions at the Bank of
East Asia, HSBC and Hang Seng Bank, he has over 37 years of
experience in the banking industry in Hong Kong, China and
Canada. Mr. Lau obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the
University of Hong Kong in July 1973. He was a Fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Bankers and a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers.

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (E848#8), aged 56, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 18 November 2014. Mr.
Yau has over 28 years of experience in finance and accounting.
Mr. Yau has been working as financial controller and company
secretary of companies listed in Hong Kong. Mr. Yau had also
been working in international accounting firms.

Mr. Yau graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a bachelor’s degree of arts in Accountancy. Mr. Yau is an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Our executive Directors and senior management are responsible
for the day-to-day management of our business. The following
table sets out certain information concerning our senior

BREEE
HTEZRRREEEARAREBEE - TRHS
ARG BHERRRERE2ET AR :

management as at the date of this report:

Name Age Positions within the Company

HE FiR REDTRZBIN

Mr. Lai Hau Yin 56  Chief financial officer and company secretary
REZBRE BEMGEE R A RWE

Mr. Leung Siu Yat 59  Vice president

Rk E IR

Mr. Ho David Pei Yen 68  Vice president

BIREBREE Rt

Mr. Lai Hau Yin (3% %), aged 56, was appointed as our chief
financial officer in March 2014 and our company secretary in
August 2014, and is mainly responsible for overseeing the
financial planning, accounting and company secretarial affairs of
our Group. Mr. Lai has more than 30 years of experience in the
areas of audit and accounting gained from various listed
companies and accounting firm in Hong Kong.

Mr. Lai is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2009, a certified
practising accountant of the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants since September 1996.

Mr. Lai obtained a bachelor’s degree in Business from Deakin
University of Australia in Australia in December 1992, a master’s
degree in Business Administration from West Coast Institute of
Management & Technology in Australia in May 2000 (long
distance learning course).

Mr. Leung Siu Yat (R4 #), aged 59, first joined our Group as
a production manager and the vice president in November 2004,
and is mainly responsible for supervising and management of the
PCB factory production of our Group. Mr. Leung has over 31
years of experience in the PCB industry. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Leung worked for Ellington (Guangdong) Electronics
Technology Company Limited (a PCB manufacturer) as a deputy
general manager of a manufacturing factory from August 2000
to September 2004. From January 1997 to July 2000, he worked
for Kalex Printed Circuit Board Ltd. (a PCB manufacturer) with his
last position as an assistant production manager. From March
1986 to January 1997, Mr. Leung worked for Kalex Circuit Board
(Hong Kong) Ltd., a PCB manufacturer, as a production
superintendent. Mr. Leung was mainly responsible for overseeing
the factory operation and supervising the production staff in
these past positions. Mr. Leung completed his secondary school
education in Guangdong province, the PRC in July 1981.
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Mr. Ho David Pei Yen (B %), aged 68, was appointed as our
vice president in January 2004 and is mainly responsible for
market development and product sales of our Group. Mr. Ho has
over 26 years of experience in the PCB industry. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Ho worked for Enigma Interconnect Corp.
(formerly known as Circuit Graphics Ltd, a PCB manufacturer) in
Canada with his last position as president from 1993 to 2002,
where he was mainly responsible for implementing new
technologies in PCB production and business development.

Mr. Ho obtained a diploma of technology in mechanical
technology from British Columbia Institute of Technology,
Canada in June 1980. Mr. Ho was accredited as an associate
member of the Society of Engineering Technologists of British
Columbia in Canada in June 1980.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lai Hau Yin (222 &) has been the chief financial officer
and the company secretary of our Company since March 2014
and August 2014, respectively. His biographical details are set
out in the above section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile — Senior Management”.
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CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

Corporate Culture

Upholding our corporate belief of “Goal, Planning, Implement,
Direction, Mission, Value”, we realize the spirit of “forging
ahead, working our way up to the top” to face various
opportunities and challenges amid the ever-changing world
trend and highly competitive business environment with passion,
diligence and intelligence. We continue to gain customer trust
and boldly work hand-in-hand towards reaching our goal.

Goal:

The long-term development goal of the Company is to be a
world-class enterprise which delivers world-renowned products
and services of the best quality.

Planning:
With keen business acumen, we make every effort to formulate
all-rounded, precise, and feasible plans.

Implement:
We need to be united, meticulous, efficient, precise and
persistent.

Direction:

Amid the ever-changing world-trend and the highly competitive
business environment, we timely formulate our strategic
direction. We boldly transform to keep up with the times.

Mission:

We nurture a corporate team with all-rounded development in
“morality, intellect, physique”. With united wisdom and
strength, we scale the heights of technology. We satisfy the
demand of our customers with quality products and excellent
service attitude. Our trilateral cooperation with our suppliers and
customers allows us to share the success and give back to the
society.

Value:

We adhere to honesty and keep our promises. With quality as
our core value, we strive for a win-win situation with our
stakeholders.
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Corporate Strategy

To realize the goal of creating long-term value for the
Shareholders and other stakeholders, the Group focuses on
producing high-quality circuit boards and enhancing the
production and management procedures by world-recognized
quality and management systems such as ISO 9001, ISO 14001
and IATF 16949 to ensure each piece of high-quality circuit
board produced satisfies the needs of the downstream industry.
By stressing on diversity in our market position, we can supply
products for various downstream markets and regional
segments. With good business acumen, we respond to market
changes and strive for various opportunities. In view of the
global aging population and the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Company has successfully obtained ISO 13485 quality system
certification for circuit boards used in medical equipment in
2022, laying the foundation to step into the medical equipment
market. The Company establishes solid long-term relationships
with suppliers and customers and has cooperated with some of
them for over a decade. Under the basis of mutual trust, the
flow of supply has been more smooth and stable.

Meanwhile, the Group continues to focus on environment,
society and governance and abide by the laws and regulations to
contribute to a green, healthy, inclusive and diversified lifestyle
of our next generation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Adapting and adhering to recognised standards of corporate
governance principles and practices has always been one of the
top priorities of the Company. The Board believes that good
corporate governance is one of the areas that leads to the
success of the Company and in balancing the interests of
shareholders, customers and employees, and the Board is
devoted to ongoing enhancements of the efficiency and
effectiveness of such principles and practices.

From 1 January 2023 up to the date of this annual report, the
Company had complied with the code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, except Code
Provision C.2.1 as more particularly described below.
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Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. However, up to and until 1 August 2023,
we did not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer
and Mr. Chan Wing Yin performed these two roles. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person had the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enabled more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group.
The Board continued to review this arrangement when Mr. Chan
Wing Yin wanted to devote more time pursuing his personal
interests and resigned as chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer, the Board decided to separate the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer from 1 August 2023 with
two executive directors serving the roles respectively.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard,
to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements and to meet the rising expectations of the
shareholders and investors.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting
than the required standard of dealings of the Model Code for
Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiries to all the Directors, the Company was
not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard of
dealings set out in the Model Code and its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by Directors during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, three of which
are executive Directors, one is a non-executive Director, and
three are independent non-executive Directors. The composition
of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mrs. Chan Yung (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Wing Yin

Mr. Chan Yan Wing

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen

Mr. Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung. They are
the parents of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong (a non-executive Director)
and Mr. Chan Yan Wing (an executive Director).

The biographical details of each Director are set out in the
section “Directors and Senior Management Profile” on pages 22
to 27.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS
MEETINGS
Details of the attendance of individual Directors at Board

meetings, committee meetings and shareholder meetings held
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board is scheduled to meet regularly at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals, to discuss the overall
strategy as well as the operational and financial performance of
the Company. Other Board meetings will be held when
necessary. Such Board meetings involve the active participation,
either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of Directors. For the year ended 31
December 2023, four Board meetings were held.

Appropriate notices are given to all Directors in advance for
attending regular and other Board meetings. Meeting agendas
and other relevant information are provided to the Directors in
advance of Board meetings. All Directors are consulted to include
additional matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures, and all
applicable rules and regulations, are followed.

Both draft and final versions of the minutes are sent to all
Directors for their comment and records. Minutes of Board
meetings are kept by the company secretary and such minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
prior notice by any Director.

GENERAL MEETINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, one general meeting
was held.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD AND
MANAGEMENT

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and managing
the Company’s affairs, including the responsibilities for the
adoption of long-term strategies and appointing and supervising
senior management to ensure that the operation of the Group is
conducted in accordance with the objective of the Group. The
Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s
corporate governance policies which include: (i) to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (iv) to review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company in discharging its duties, certain
responsibilities are delegated to various Board committees which
have been established by the Board to deal with different aspects
of the Company’s affairs. Unless otherwise specified in their
respective written terms of reference as approved by the Board,
these Board committees are governed by the Company’s articles
of association as well as the Board's policies and practices (in so
far as the same are not in conflict with the provisions contained
in the articles of association). With the new composition of
members of the nomination committee, the remuneration
committee and the audit committee, the independent non-
executive Directors will be able to effectively devote their time to
perform the duties required by the respective Board committees.

The Board has also delegated the responsibility of implementing
its strategies and the day-to-day operation to the management
of the Company under the leadership of the executive Directors.
Clear guidance has been made as to the matters that should be
reserved to the Board for its decision which include matters on,
inter alia, capital, finance and financial reporting, risk
management and internal controls, communication with
shareholders, Board membership, delegation of authority and
corporate governance.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the preparation of
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. The financial statements set out on
pages 68 to 148 were prepared on the basis set out in note 2.1
to the consolidated financial statements. Financial results of the
Group are announced in a timely manner in accordance with
statutory and/or regulatory requirements. The declaration of
reporting responsibility issued by the external auditors of the
Company on the Company’s financial statements is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 67.

There is no non-compliance with rules 3.10(1), (2) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.
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MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT VIEWS

The Company ensures independent views and input are available
to the Board via the below mechanisms:

(1) the Board composition and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors should be reviewed
by the nomination committee of the Company on an
annual basis, in particular the portion of the independent
non-executive Directors and the independence of the
independent non-executive director who has served for
more than nine years;

(2) a written confirmation was received by the Company
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in relation to his
independence to the Company. The Company considers all
its independent non-executive Directors to be
independent;

(3) in view of good corporate governance practices and to
avoid conflict of interests, the Directors who are also
directors and/or senior management of the Company’s
controlling shareholders and/or certain subsidiaries of the
controlling shareholders, would abstain from voting in the
relevant Board resolutions in relation to the transactions
with the controlling shareholders and/or its associates;

(4)  the chairman of the Board shall meet with independent
non-executive Directors at least once annually; and

(5) all members of the Board can seek independent
professional advice when necessary to perform their
responsibilities in accordance with the Company’s policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has
reviewed the mechanisms for ensuring independent views and
considered that the implementation of the mechanisms was
effective.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors have
been given relevant guideline materials and attended a training
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the
relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of
disclosure of interest and business of the Group. Such induction
materials and briefings will also be provided to newly appointed
Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors
will be arranged whenever necessary.
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All Directors have provided record of training attendance, and
the Company will continue to arrange and/or fund the training
in accordance with the Code Provisions.

During the year, all Directors pursued continuous professional
development, and relevant details are set out below:

Name of Directors

EREFHERBBILFELE  MARFRKEER
BPRIGE B SR E BYE T -

Ep FEEENERBESLRE  ARERS
T

Types of training

EEHE EAEE
Executive Directors HITES

Mrs. Chan Yung FRE 22+ A B
Mr. Chan Wing Yin BRECE A B
Mr. Chan Yan Wing BB S A A B
Non-executive Director FHITES

Mr. Chan Yan Kwong BRESE T4 A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Mr. Chung Yuk Ming EERAAEE A, B
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu eSS A, B
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 2B 5 A4 A, B
Remarks: i

A — Attending conferences/forums/seminars
B — Reading journals/updates/articles/materials

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. However, up to and until 1 August 2023,
we did not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer
and Mr. Chan Wing Yin performed these two roles. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person had the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within our Group and enabled more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for our Group.
The Board considers this structure enabled our Company to
make and implement decisions promptly and effectively. The
Board believes that the balance of power and authority was
adequately ensured by the operation of the Board, which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with a
sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive
Directors. The Board continued to review this arrangement when
Mr. Chan Wing Yin wanted to devote more time to pursuing his
personal interests and resigned as chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer, the Board decided to separate the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer from 1 August 2023 with
two executive directors serving the roles respectively.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company, where each of the non-executive
Director and each of the independent non-executive Directors
has signed a letter of appointment with the Company. Such
term is for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date (except for Mr. Lau Shun Chuen and Mr. Chan Yan
Kwong, whose term is for three years commencing from their
respective dates of appointment) and shall continue subject to
termination by either party in accordance with the terms thereof
and the retirement and re-election provisions in accordance with
the articles of association of the Company.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, at
each annual general meeting (“AGM") one third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation. However,
if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third shall be the
number of retiring Directors. The Directors who shall retire in
each year will be those who have been longest in the office since
their last re-election or appointment but as between persons
who become or were last re-elected Directors on the same day
those to retire will (unless they otherwise agree among
themselves) be determined by the Company. Such retiring
Directors may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
shareholders after their appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting and all Directors appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors on 18 November 2014 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code Provisions. Its
terms of reference are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the nomination committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board on regular
basis; identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members; assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment
of Directors. The nomination committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Shun
Chuen (Chairman), Mr. Chung Yuk Ming and Mr. Yau Wing Yiu,
one executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Wing, and one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Kwong.
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For the year under review, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting, in which it reviewed the structure of the Board and
recommended to the Board for reappointment of all directors at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The Nomination
Committee also determined the criteria of the board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”).

When identifying suitable candidates for directorship, the
nomination committee will carry out the selection process by
making reference to the skills, experience, education
background, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of the proposed candidates, and also the
Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations required for the positions. All candidates must be
able to meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of
the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an
independent non-executive Director should also meet the
independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Qualified candidates will then be recommended to the Board for
approval.

To enhance the quality of the performance of the Board and to
achieve diversity on the Board, the Board adopted on 18
November 2014 the Board Diversity Policy, pursuant to which (i)
differences in the skills, regional and industry experience,
background, race, gender and other qualities of Directors will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of
the Board; and (ii) all Board appointments will be based on merit
while taking into account diversity (including gender diversity).
For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy,
the following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive directors;

(B) at least one of the members of the Board shall have
obtained accounting or other professional qualifications;

(C) atleast 70% of the members of the Board shall have more
than seven years of experience in the industry he/she is
specialised in; and

(D) at least two of the members of the Board shall have China-
related work experience.

The Board currently has one female Director out of seven
Directors, and is committed to improving gender diversity as and
when suitable candidates are identified. The Company is of the
view that gender diversity in respect of the Board has been
achieved. Of the 739 employees (including senior management)
of the Group as at 31 December 2023, 284 are female.
Accordingly, the Company considers that gender diversity is also
achieved in its workforce generally.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board has fulfilled
the measurable objectives of the Board Diversity Policy.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee pursuant
to a resolution of the Directors passed on 18 November 2014
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25
and Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference
of the remuneration committee was adopted in compliance with
the Code Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group and ensure none of the Directors determine their own
remuneration. The emoluments of executive Directors are
determined based on the skills, knowledge, individual
performance as well as contributions, the scope of responsibility
and accountability of such Directors, taking into consideration of
the Company’s performance and prevailing market conditions.
The remuneration policy of independent non-executive Directors is
to ensure that the independent non-executive Directors are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to
the Company'’s affairs including their participation in respective
Board committees. The emoluments of independent non-executive
Directors are determined with reference to their skills, experience,
knowledge, duties and market trends. As at the date of this
annual report, the remuneration committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Yuk
Ming (Chairman), Mr. Lau Shun Chuen and Mr. Yau Wing Yiu,
one executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Wing and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Chan Yan Kwong.

Details of remuneration of Directors and chief executive are set
out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the Corporate Governance
Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
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During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting in which it assessed the performance, reviewed
and determined the remuneration package (including reviewing
and/or approving matters relating to share schemes, where
applicable) of the directors and senior management.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Director passed on 18 November 2014 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 and
Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules. The written terms of reference of
the audit committee was adopted in compliance with the Code
Provisions. Its terms of reference are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the audit committee, among other things,
are to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor, review the
financial statements and material advice in respect of financial
reporting and oversees risk management and internal control
procedures of the Company. As at the date of this annual report,
the audit committee consists of three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Yau Wing Yiu (Chairman), Mr. Lau Shun
Chuen and Mr. Chung Yuk Ming.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Audit Committee members met twice with the external auditors
and the Group’s senior management to discuss and review,
among other things, the following matters:

(@)  the annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2023 to ensure the full, complete and accurate disclosure
in the aforesaid financial statements pursuant to the
accounting standards and other legal requirements for
presenting the same to the Board for approval;

(b) the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst &
Young as external auditors to perform the audit of final
results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
review on the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2023;

(c) the independence of the external auditors especially for
those non-audit services;

(d)  the continuing connected transactions of the Group;

(e) the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
controls;

(f)  the overall effectiveness of its internal audit function; and
(g) the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of

staff and the accounting and financial reporting matters
and their training programmes and budget.
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The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit fees,
effectiveness of the audit process, independence and objectivity
of the external auditors and has recommended to the Board the
re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company’s external
auditors for the ensuing year at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this
annual report, the Board has not taken a different view from the
audit committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditors.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the Company engaged Ernst & Young as the
external auditors. Apart from providing audit services, Ernst &
Young also provided non-audit services including: i) taxation
services; ii) review of interim financial information; and iii) certain
procedures on the annual result announcement. The fees in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by Ernst &
Young for the year ended 31 December 2023 approximately
amounted to HK$1,600,000 and HK$518,500, respectively.

The reporting responsibilities of Ernst & Young are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 62 to 67.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lai Hau Yin being our company secretary is primarily
responsible for the company secretarial work of our Group. Mr.
Lai is also our Company’s chief financial officer. The Company
confirms that Mr. Lai has for the year 2023 attended no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of
the Corporate Governance Code by establishing appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and
monitoring of such systems, while the Board oversees
management in performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main
features of the risk management and internal control systems are
described in the sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

. Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business
objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of
objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.
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. Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the
residual risks.

The management assesses the potential risks faced by the Group
from time to time, which is also evaluated annually by a
professional institute engaged by the Group. This year's
evaluation covered the period from 1 January 2023 to 31
December 2023.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2023, no significant
risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO") 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

° Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
control across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks
should be managed.

o Control Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure that management directives to
mitigate risks to the achievement of objectives are carried
out.

o Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each components of internal control is present
and functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who
are in possession of inside information are fully conversant
with their obligations to preserve confidentiality.
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o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

The management assesses the internal control system of the
Group from time to time, which is also evaluated annually by a
professional institution engaged by the Group. The professional
institution has completed the evaluation for the period from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2023. Based on the internal
control reviews conducted in 2023, no significant control
deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA") function, which is
consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise. The IA
function is independent of the Group’s daily operation and
carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control
systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of
operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature
and extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and
the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; (i) the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems.

The Board, through its review and the review made by IA
function and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. It is also
considered that the resources, staff qualifications and experience
of relevant staff were adequate and the training programs and
budget provided were sufficient.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The following procedures for shareholders of the Company to
convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) of the
Company are prepared in accordance with the articles of
association as follows:

(1) One or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit
of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company having the right to vote at general
meetings, shall have the right, by written notice, to require
an EGM to be called by the Directors of the Company for
the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition.

(2)  Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Room 809-810, Kwong Sang Hong Centre,
151-153 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Email: ir@yantat.com

Attention: Mr. Lai Hau Yin

Registered office of the Company

Address: Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
P.O. Box 1350 Grand Cayman
KY-1108 Cayman Islands
Attention: Mr. Lai Hau Yin

(3)  The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition.

(4) If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

For matters in relation to the Board, the shareholders can contact
the Company at the following:

By post to the Company’s headquarter in Hong Kong
By email to ir@yantat.com
Attention to Company Secretary, Mr. Lai Hau Yin

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his or her
proposal (“Proposal”) with his or her detailed contact
information at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong. Such contact address is Room 809-810, Kwong
Sang Hong Centre, 151-153 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun Tong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong, attention to Company Secretary, Mr. Lai
Hau Yin.
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The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to include
the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature
of the Proposal as follows:

(1) At least 14 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of ordinary resolution of the Company.

(2) At least 21 days’ notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an EGM of the Company or an ordinary resolution of the
Company in an annual general meeting of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a
high level of transparency is a key to enhancing investor
relations. The Company is committed to a policy of open and
timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders and
investing public.

The Company has developed a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure balanced and understandable information about
the Company are readily available to Shareholders.

Shareholders may raise questions or make a request through
designated channels for the Company’s information to the
extent such information is publicly available. Please refer to
pages 3 and 43 of this Annual Report for the address of the
Company's Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and contact
details of the Company. Shareholders can contact Tricor Investor
Services Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar, for questions about their shareholdings.
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Information of the Company is also communicated to
Shareholders through the Company’'s Corporate
Communications, including but not limited to financial reports
(interim and annual reports), announcements and circulars. Such
publications are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. The Corporate Communications shall be in
plain language, and Shareholders have the right to choose
English and/or Chinese version or means of receipt of such
Corporate Communications to facilitate understandable, timely
and environmental friendly communication.

Information on the Company’s website (www.yantat.com) is
updated on a regular basis. A dedicated Investor Relations
section is available with presentation materials and webcasts of
the Company’s interim and annual results briefings provided in
conjunction with the Company’s results announcements as soon
as practicable after release to the public. Press releases and other
Corporate Communications of the Group are also available on
the Company’s website.

General meetings are held at least annually whereby there are
opportunities for the Company to have direct interactions with
Shareholders. Board members, in particular, the chairmen of
Board committees or their delegates, appropriate management
executives and external auditors will attend annual general
meetings to answer questions from Shareholders and their
appointed proxies. The process of the Company’s general
meetings is monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and if
necessary, changes will be made to ensure that Shareholders’
needs are best served.

The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’
privacy. Shareholders’ privacy is protected under the
Shareholders Communication Policy and Shareholders’
information will not be disclosed without their consent, unless
required by law to do so.

During the year, the Company has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders Communication Policy.
With the above measures in place, the Shareholders
Communication Policy is considered to have been effectively
implemented.

During the year, there has been no significant change in the
Company’s constitutional documents.

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Report of the Directors

EEEHE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Consolidated
Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
those of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Further
discussion and analysis of these activities and indication of likely
future development in the Company’s business, as required by
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of
Hong Kong) (“Companies Ordinance”) can be found in the
sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” set out on pages 5
and 6 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on
pages 9 to 21 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of
this report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2023
are set out in the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 68
to 148.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK10.0
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK12.0 cents per share).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 8. This summary
does not form part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 31 December 2023, the investment properties of the Group
were revalued by an independent firm of professional surveyor
and property valuer on an open market value basis at
HK$25,844,000 (2022: HK$26,868,000).

Details of these and other movements during the year in the

REMHE
RIB_=F+-A=1t—H "EBEREVELSE

VEEASMEYEGEMAREZARMEREESH
725,844,000 L (ZZ = =4 : 26,868,000/57T) °

AEBERENMEZ LB RFRAEMES 2 FEH

investment properties of the Group are set out below and in A TX R&E MISHREM T 14 -
note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Property location Existing use Term of lease
LES: 1 BRERAZR HH
1. Unit 2705, Level 27, Tongda Chuangye Building, No.1, Alley 600, Commercial Long
Tianshan Road, Changning District, Shanghai The PRC
FE T RERXILE 6007 15 FIZAIEAE 2712705 = [EHES =5
2. Flat 1812, 1912, 2012, 2112, 2206, 2306, 2402, 2406 and 2506, Residential Long
Block B, Elife Park, Yanziling Third Road, Pingshan New District,
Shenzhen, The PRC
RERIITFILEARFE=E= 7 EEBMR 1812 1912~ 2012 T=E =

2112 ~ 2206 * 2306 * 2402 * 2406 }2 2506 =

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 72 and 73 of this
annual report and note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company'’s distributable reserves,
calculated under the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to approximately HK$63.0 million (2022:
HK$62.5 million).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales attributable to the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers accounted for approximately 23.3% and
57.2% (2022: 24.8% and 54.9%) respectively of the Group’s
total revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
purchases made by the Group from its largest supplier and the
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 20.7% and
56.2% (2022: 24.5% and 59.8%) of the Group’s total purchases
for the year ended 31 December 2023, respectively.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, neither the Directors,
their close associates, nor any shareholders who owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into, or existed, during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
Director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance when the Report of the Board of the
Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance.

SUBSIDIARIES
The details of the major subsidiaries of the Company are set out
in note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group'’s total capital expenditure amounted
to approximately HK$12.5 million (2022: HK$4.1 million) which
was mainly used for acquisition of machineries and equipment.

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during
the year are set out in note 13 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023
date are set out in note 24 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. The details of the Group’s charges on assets are set
out on page 20.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mrs. Chan Yung (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Wing Yin

Mr. Chan Yan Wing

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming

Mr. Yau Wing Yiu

Mr. Lau Shun Chuen

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years, subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meeting
and shall continue thereafter until terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the service
contract.

Each of the non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at annual general meeting and until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other or otherwise in accordance
with the terms of the letter of appointment.

No Director has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within 1 year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all of them are considered
to be independent.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, one
third of the existing Directors shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no Director of the
Company or an entity connected with such Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract that is significant in relation to the
business of the Group to which the holding company of the
Company, or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” on pages 22 to 27 of this annual
report.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the prospectus of the
Company dated 26 November 2014 (the “Prospectus”), there
was no contract of significance or contract of significance for
provision of services, to which the Company or its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
controlling shareholder or its subsidiaries had a material interest
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling shareholders has made an annual
declaration in respect of their compliance with the terms of non-
competition undertaking.

Details of the non-competition undertaking are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of
the Prospectus.

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the controlling
shareholders have become effective from the Listing Date.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director of the
Company has made an annual declaration in respect of their
compliance with the terms of non-competition undertaking.

The non-competition undertakings in respect of the executive
Directors and non-executive Director have become effective from
the Listing Date.
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The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed and
confirmed that the executive Directors and non-executive
Director of the Company have complied with the non-
competition undertaking and the non-competition undertaking
has been enforced by the Company in accordance with its terms.

NEW BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY

There was no New Opportunity (as defined in the Prospectus
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non
Competition Undertakings”) referred by the controlling
shareholders to the Company as provided under the non-
competition undertaking.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contract of significance had been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, and the controlling
shareholders or any of their subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following continuing
connected transactions (as defined under the Listing Rules) for
the year ended 31 December 2023:

(1) On 23 October 2023, Yan Tat Technology Limited (“YT
Technology”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into a lease agreement (“Yantek Lease”)
with Yantek Electronics Company Limited (“Yantek”) a
connected person of the Company within the meanings of
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Yantek Lease, YT
Technology shall lease from Yantek the premises situated
at Flat E on 15th Floor and Flat Roof immediately above of
Tower 5 and Car Parking Space No. 11 on Car Park BT,
One Beacon Hill, No. 1 Beacon Hill Road, Kowloon, Hong
Kong with a gross total floor area of approximately 1,473
square feet at a monthly rental of HK$58,000 for a term of
2 years commencing from 1 November 2023 (total
consideration: HK$1,392,000). The lease term is from 1
November 2023 to 31 October 2025 as staff quarter for
Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung.
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(2)  On 2 November 2022, YT Technology renewed a tenancy
agreement (“Headquarters Lease”) with Yantek, a
connected person of the Company within the meanings of
the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Headquarters Lease, YT
Technology shall lease from Yantek the office premises and
warehouse located at Room 09, 10 and 14 on 8th Floor,
Kwong Sang Hong Centre, Nos. 151-153 Hoi Bun Road,
Kwun Tong Kowloon, Hong Kong at a monthly rental of
HK$90,000 for a term of 2 years commencing on 25
November 2022 and ending on 24 November 2024 for the
Group's use (total consideration: HK$2,160,000).

Yantek is beneficially owned as to 34% by Mr. Chan Yan Wing,
33% by Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and 33% by Ms. Chan Yan Sam.
Mr. Chan Yan Wing and Mr. Chan Yan Kwong are the Directors
of the Company. Ms. Chan Yan Sam is the sister of Mr. Chan
Yan Kwong and Mr. Chan Yan Wing and the daughter of Mr.
Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung.

The continuing connected transactions mentioned above are
fully exempt from the reporting, annual review, announcement
requirements and the independent shareholders’ approval
requirements as set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and in their opinion, the transactions are:
(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (2)
on normal commercial terms or better; and (3) in accordance
with the agreement governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, a summary of significant related party
transactions, which do not constitute connected transactions,
made during the year is disclosed in note 32 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Company confirmed that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company'’s existing Share Option Scheme was approved for
adoption pursuant to a written resolution of all of our
Shareholders passed on 18 November 2014 for the purpose to
provide our Company with a flexible means of giving incentive
to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing
benefits to eligible participants and for such other purposes as
the Board approve from time to time.

Subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
may, at their absolute discretion, grant or invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes to take up options to
subscribe for shares: (a) any employee, supplier, service provider,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Group
(including any director, whether executive and whether
independent or not, of the Group) who is in full-time or part-
time employment with the Company or any subsidiaries; and (b)
any person who have contributed or may contribute to the
Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the total number of shares in
issue from time to time.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 8
December 2014 unless the Company seeks the approval of the
shareholders in general meeting for refreshing the 10% limit
under the Share Option Scheme provided that options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or any
other share option schemes of the Company will not be counted
for the purpose of calculating 10% limit.

Details of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set
out in paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in the section
headed “Statutory and General Information” in Appendix V to
the Prospectus. The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme
are summarised as follows:

The Share Option Scheme was adopted for a period of 10 years
commencing from 18 November 2014 and remains in force until
17 November 2024. The Company may, by resolution in general
meeting or, such date as the Board determined, terminate the
Share Option Scheme at any time without prejudice to the
exercise of options granted prior to such termination.
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The exercise price per share of the Company for each option
granted shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion but in any event shall be at least the higher of:

(1)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
guotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer for the grant of option (“Date of Grant”)
which must be a trading day;

(2) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant; and

(3) the nominal value of the shares on the Date of Grant.

Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00
to the Company as consideration for the grant. The acceptance
of an offer of the grant of the option must be made within the
date as specified in the offer letter issued by the Company. The
exercise period of any option granted under the Share Option
Scheme shall not be longer than 10 years commencing on the
date of grant and expiring on the last day of such 10-year period
subject to the provisions for early termination as contained in the
Share Option Scheme. The rules of the Share Option Scheme do
not restrictively specify the vesting period of options granted
thereunder.

The total number of new shares of the Company that may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share options schemes of the
Company shall not exceed 24,000,000 shares, which represents
10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at the date of this
report. The total number of new shares of the Company
available for grant under the scheme mandate of the Share
Option Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year ended
31 December 2023 are 24,000,000 shares and 24,000,000
shares, respectively.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
grantee under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. Any
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject
to issuance of a circular by the Company and approved by its
shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, is required to be approved by the independent non-
executive directors. In addition, any grant of share options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

ARRIZENERHBEREZSERITEERHESTS R
RBIBERE - ERNANSERTI&RS

(1) EBEORRLBREAH(ERLAH] BEKR
5 B)EBR AT A2 ZRRERAH 2 WHIE

Q) BORBEERHBABAAMEEEAERZMAL
AZBRRERMBZFHEHE &

B) BOHRREBRHZHE-

EMBERER  ARARRARRZM1.00ET - £
REHZAE - RERHZBERELBARARREL
ZER PR E 2 B BIAEE A - RIZEAEST S
BB EABREZTERTSERTF  AREA
HEst  WNBMTFHMERE BER - HEREE
Pt BIFTEL 2 R AT IR AR AL - BRUERT BIRAR Y
W AR H AR E R IB LA B LB R E A -

RIREEAAERT B R AR BT E AT IR 2
FTA R EIETE R Al L B 1T 2 AR A FT AR (0 R &L
5815 24,000,000 f% + BIAR R AR AIRE HHE 317
B 10% - BHE—_E—_=F+-_A=+—"HILFEF
MRER - BIEERAET B8R E ] HE HA A
N AR D 42 D Bl A 24,000,0000% B 5 &
24,000,000 F&AZ1D °

EEMT—EABMA - REBREFSDR T &
BT EARANBRE (21 TITE - S RHERT
2 BhHE) BITERERITREETZRSRNHEE
NEHBEADETRNERZ1% - EE—FELEER
BHZ1%REBREARARRRE LR T
TR Wl ERREER - AT

AARARES TBTHRABHTIZRER  HWEE
AZBBEATREEABEREARSEIIFNTES
EVHLE - TREE o thsh REM+ ZEAHE @
ARRETEFRRIBIIFRTES  REAREZE
ZBMEATRENEABREBAARFAEMNKRED
BEITRME0.1% ERERASESKRRNELL
o TAEER -

54 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

From the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme to 31
December 2023, no options were granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

Additional particulars of the Company’s Share Option Scheme
are set out in note 27 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Apart from the aforesaid share option schemes, at no time
during the year ended 31 December 2023 was any of the
Company and its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors, or their spouses or children under the age
18, had any right to subscribe for the shares in, or debentures
of, the Company, or had exercise any such right.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors and chief executives of
the Company had the following interests in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company, its Group
members and/or associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing Rules:

BRERERTRHE ARRREINERAG LRE
ZTER

BEREASRAEEE T =F+ " =+—
B - BUEARBERERT 3R h B AE -

ARRBRENE 2B ZHBRNGA M MARM T
27 °

BRA R BN RBEE_FT _=F+_H
=+ —RIFE  ARRAREEMZERAR - MBLQ
Al R [R R B A R AT S 2 BE - B EE RS
BUYIBEAR R B AT E A ERE A R Z B fp s B E &
BAs - BEES  IREZRBH T /RN TH
FRGBER AN RBARE 2B RERER - L
BITEARER -

EERFETRAERKRSG - HERGORE
BEPZEEIRA

RECB-=F+"H=+—H B2RARAEE]T
BABRARR - HEBKE AR R LEHES(GE
ERBFLBEEM(TEZRBEED]) EXVER) 2
Befn -~ RO REEFETES TIRERRIEE S
MEIEIGRPIE 352 KB TFENERMAES - iR
15 BT AR A P 2 AR 2 7 R ZR R AR A R Ko B <2 BT EY

Ny

MR

The Company AN

Number of
ordinary

Name of Capacity/ shares held Percentage of

Name of Director Group member nature of interest (Note 1)  shareholding
BEZERHE

R SERELATNER 56 HEMHHE (BfFEE1) BHREDL

Mr. Chan Wing Yin The Company Interest in a controlled 180,000,000 75%
corporation (Note 2) shares (L)
PRECE 4 /NG| EEHEEE S (H5E2) 180,000,000
A (L)

Mrs. Chan Yung The Company Interest of spouse (Note 3) 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
PREZ+ PN/NC] P B 2 (B3 3) 180,000,000
% (L)
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Notes:

1. The letter “L" denotes the Directors’ long position in the shares of the
Company or the relevant associated corporation

2. The Company is held as to approximately 75% by Million Pearl Holdings
Ltd. (“Million Pearl”). Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin
and 30% by Mrs. Chan Yung. Mr. Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs.
Chan Yung. Under the SFO, Mr. Chan Wing Yin is taken to be interested in
the same number of shares in which Mrs. Chan Yung is interested.

3. Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs.
Chan Yung. Mrs. Chan Yung is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Yin. Under
the SFO, Mrs. Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of

B -

1. L] fEEENA R FSAAR BB ABR D E TR

2. 7N 7] F Million Pearl Holdings Ltd. ([ Million Pearl ) #4841 75%
# %5 © Million Pearl HFREEB S £ KRB L L H RIEH 70% K&
30% s o RSB ERRBELZLTHES - BREBEFHF KBS K
Bl - REBERERBIERRB 2 LA RRNEREE 2 R1H
RS s o

3. Million Pearl 73 BIl £ R 48 B 5t 4 )RR B8 X T 5 H5 70% K& 30% #
i o MBRTARKBIEENE - BIREHFRAEGKAG - BR
B IWRIERRABEERARENERSE ZRHPHES

shares to which Mr. Chan Wing Yin is interested. HEas ©
Associated Corporation LR
Number of
Name of ordinary
associated Capacity/ shares held Percentage of
Name of Director corporation nature of interest (Note 1)  shareholding
RFEEERHE
EEgE HEEE B B RntE (Bf=E1) FRESL
Mr. Chan Wing Yin Million Pearl Beneficial owner/ 10 shares 100%
Interest of spouse
BRECE 4 EnlE A BBER 100%
Mrs. Chan Yung Million Pearl Beneficial owner/ 10 shares 100%
Interest of spouse
PREZ T EnEA A TeBER 10A%
Note: B &
1. The disclosed interest represents the interests in the associated corporation, 1. B4R EEAE 2545 7 AEEE @ Million Pearl B - ERRAB LA

Million Pearl, which is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by
Mrs. Chan Yung. Under the SFO, each of Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs.
Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
other is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any other
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code of the Listing Rules.

RRBLZEDHIHER 70% K 30% HEzt © RIFEH R PEES] -
REBELERRBLLTEREERS — 7 EEEENEREZE
ZAn R A R o

BREXHBEEEN R-BE_=F+_H=+—8 "
BMEEENARREZTHABRA R R ZHE AR

B (E& R Bn LB EGIFE XV ) 2 Ef - 8-
B0 s (B A8 BB (R E R IR 55 R I E 15 P15
XV &P EE 7 K2 893 BB /R 5B A AN X @) e Bt 52 Pt 2 #E e HOR
B (BRERIEES R PE GO B IR E (F R IE
BAZEDIORR)  IIREFFFRIEIRGISF 352 %
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Directors,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) had, or were deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

FERRREMATREQFRSG REBK
HhZERR KR

R-BE-=F+—"F=+—08 BEBHFH ATA
T/ ER(BESRARREZITHABRIN RARF]
RO ERIR D - AR AEEERIEES RS
EIRBIZEXVERSE 2 M3 D EMEC AR AR R IFEER
vém%ws AR E 5 K HE 156 55 336 {RAE A A
NEHEEFENSSMOERIAAINT ¢

Number of
ordinary % of
shares held interest in
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest (Note 1) the Company
BEEERYE RAEATZ
REEE HE 51 RmtE (BF=E1) EREIL
Million Pearl (Note 2) Beneficial owner 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
Million Pearl (Fi3E2) Bl A 180,000,000 A% (L)
Mr. Chan Wing Yin Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 3) 180,000,000 75%
shares (L)
PR S bl (i 3) 180,000,000 (L)
Mrs. Chan Yung Interest of spouse (Note 4) 180,000,000 75%

PREZ+ oS (5t 4)
Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares of the

Company or the relevant Group member.
2. Million Pearl is directly interested in approximately 75% of the Company.

3. The Company is held as to approximately 75% by Million Pearl. Million Pearl
is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs. Chan Yung. Mr.
Chan Wing Yin is the spouse of Mrs. Chan Yung. Under the SFO, Mr. Chan
Wing Yin is taken to be interested in the same number of shares in which
Mrs. Chan Yung is interested.

4. Million Pearl is held as to 70% by Mr. Chan Wing Yin and 30% by Mrs.
Chan Yung. Mrs. Chan Yung is the spouse of Mr. Chan Wing Yin. Under
the SFO, Mrs. Chan Yung is taken to be interested in the same number of
shares in which Mr. Chan Wing Yin is interested.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any other persons/entities (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

shares (L)
180,000,000 A% (L)

i

1. [LKRZATRAR R KA EEERIKE A RNBRONER -

2. Million Pearl B ##EA A R4 75% H)#E s °

3. 7N A 7] Million Pearl 5 4 #175% # 25 © Million Pearl g 5 45 B
EERRBLZTDRIEFE70% % 30%#E5 - FREB L AR
B LR - BIREF RAERD - BREB LEWRARER
BhiHARERZ AR ERNDPHESERE -

4. Million Pearl g R 68 & 5 4 I BR B8 20+ 3 Bl 3% B 70% &% 30% #E
o BT ARKB LS - BIREFRPERG - BR
BT HRRRRRBE T ERA R 2 BRKAOROTESR
WS o

BEXHIHBEEN R_E-=F+-"F=1+— E
EEMTABAEMEMALT BB (EEREARD
BITHA BBIN RA R GRS ABRE A D %m&
BEHFMAAEGRBIEXVEE2 &35 HIEXERAR
AIWBENERIUAR  REES R EKDISE 336
IR ARRARIREAGFENECMAOERSIAR o
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this
annual report, none of the Directors or substantial shareholders
of the Company or any of their respective associates has
engaged in any business that competes or may compete with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests
with the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither did the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchase, sell or redeem any of the Company’s listed
securities.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders by reason of their holding the
Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association, or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year under review and up to the date of
this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be
found in the Corporate Governance Report contained on pages
28 to 45 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up to review the
Company’s emolument policy and structure of all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market practices. No long-term
incentive schemes have been adopted by the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals

with highest emoluments are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the
financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group produces PCB in China and sells them around the
world, and is faced with certain different types of risks and
uncertainties. The principal items are listed as below.

Vi.

vii.

viii.

The Group derives a significant portion of its revenue from
major customers, particularly automobile customers. The
decrease in demand from major customers may materially
and adversely affect the business.

Fluctuation in exchange rates may adversely affect the
business.

The Group may be subject to any labour shortages,
increased labour cost or other factors affecting labour
force, or full implementation of social security and public
housing policies, which may materially affect the Group’s
business operation and financial condition.

The PRC government has tightened its environmental
regulation. Although the Group’s current operation falls in
line with the requirement, it may be affected and incur
additional expenses when the relevant regulatory threshold
is raised further in the future.

As a result of trade frictions between the PRC and some of
its major trading partners, factories in the PRC may be
subject to import and export restrictions and tariffs, which
may affect their export business, supply of raw materials
and equipment and profits.

Currently, various PCB manufacturers are vigorously
expanding their production capacity. When the market
fails to meet the development expectation, the excessive
production capacity will result in irrational competition
among industrial peers, pushing down the unit price and
diminishing the company’s profitability.

The Group's sole production facility is based in Shenzhen.
If this facility experiences any issue that results in a lower
production output, and no third-party assistance is
identified, our sales will decline.

The Group entered into a cooperation agreement with an
independent third party in relation to the urban renewal
project located at the current production area in Pingshan
District. Failure for the counterparty to make payment
instalments in time in accordance with the terms of the
cooperation agreement may result in the cooperation
being terminated. For further details, please refer to
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Financial Review
— Future plans for material in investments and capital
assets” above.
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Vi.

Vii.

vii.

REBABOIWETIREETERTF @ FRIRA
EF - REZZEPNFT IR U EH EHIENK
EXRTHEE -

[EXRBAEHEBEXNTIEE -

AEE I HIPMEM S TR - B TRA L
RAEMPTELSHHINEAER - MEE2EER
HERENREESRER SR EEAEEDN
X2 BRI HIRRNERERNTE

TEBRFRETHREATENEE - #RK
SEBRMEERRNTE ER  BRHERN
BRE-—TRSBBEEEME  AEENE
EREXINFELELRINER -

TRE-EUTBESBHCEFENESE
B PR A X BE L ORFIAMBET R
2 KEMPEEENIMEER - BRI &R
BHEAFE -

BA G REZPCBRIER IEENIBIEFTER
EMEATABHEE  MHOBELET
SIHRTTEERT  HEEMLER A8
HMFEAE MR

AEE N EEREB Y TFRIE— &
ERi - ERLHAAANESRERRD
BRERERIIE= 5 e RN
T -

AEBEBYE=FHITILEBREZHTE
AR MBERRF] S FHZE - 58T KRR
BIEMRIGEIZR SRR - BAIEEHE
{ERUE - BRE— 15 F2HLEXTER
EitwmEkotr — MaE— EXRERER
BEMANRETE] -

BEEEERERAT / F3§ 2023 59



Report of the Directors

EEEHE

ix.  The Group's major production operation activities take
place in Mainland China. Any change to the policies in
Mainland China (including taxation, foreign exchange
control, and imports and exports) is likely to affect the
Group's overall performance.

X.  The persistence of war between Russia and Ukraine results
in frequent geopolitical conflicts and oppositions between
countries and thus has an impact on normal transactions
and increased development risks of each industry.

xi.  Overseas customers would like to realize the “China Plus
One” concept in their supply chain to reduce their reliance
in Chinese suppliers. They would like to look for alternative
suppliers outside China, thus reducing procurements of
Chinese factories in the future.

xii.  PCB raw materials account for a very high proportion of
the overall cost, especially relying on copper, gold, silver
and other metals and chemical raw materials. The
international market supply and demand and the global
macroeconomic environment have a greater impact on the
prices of the relevant raw materials and price fluctuations
may have a direct impact on the factories’ production
costs.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental protection is a collective responsibility not to be
ignored. The Group’s production factories in Shenzhen, China
possesses state-of-the-art PCB technologies and attaches a great
importance to environmental protection. The Group recognises
that the production process of PCBs would generate more
emissions than some other industries. In regard of this, we strive
to enhance the efficiency of environmental protection. The
Group sets up different management requirements for
environmental protection every year, aiming at reducing negative
impact on the environment from our operation. We have
obtained certification of IATF16949:2016 (quality assurance),
ISO14001 (environment management system), ISO9001 (quality
management system), 1SO13485:2016 (quality assurance for
medical devices), AS9100D (quality management system), UL-
796 (safety and management) and ISO45001 (occupational
health and safety management system) for PCB quality standard
and environment management system.
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The Group strictly observed the laws and regulations governing
air pollution, noise pollution, hazardous chemicals, sewage and
waste discharge and other environmental matters issued by PRC
national, provincial and municipal governments and authorities.
Meanwhile, as a responsible corporation, we produce all of our
products in compliance with the requirement of Cleaner
Production Standard: Printed Circuit Board Manufacturing (&2
EEZE : HRIERRIRZESE) issued by the Ministry of
Environmental Protection of China.

With resources in the Earth becoming increasingly scarce,
corporations should have long-term vision instead of focusing on
existing interests. The Group sees that there are economic
benefits to be capitalized in environmental protection and our
effort focuses chiefly in the following aspects, among others:
actively pushing forward the initiative of energy conservation
and consumption reduction by saving energy, water, material
and reducing resource consumption during the course of our
production, with a view to maximizing the cost effectiveness
with minimal resources; and full implementation of clean
production to achieve waste reduction at source. At the same
time, under the guidance of a paperless office, the Group
introduced the Enterprise Resources Planning System (“ERP”
System), through which it implemented electronic management
on the its production, sales, supply chain, and human resources
with a view to saving paper.

The environmental, social and governance report in Compliance
with Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules will be issued at the same
time as the publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board paid attention to the Group's policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements. External
compliance and legal advisers are engaged to ensure transactions
and business performed by the Group are within the applicable
legal framework. Updates on applicable laws, rules and
regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees
and operation units from time to time.

By order of the Board

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
CHAN Yung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B A REN RS

EY:

To the shareholders of Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yan
Tat Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 68 to 148, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B B HRE (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

Key audit matter

HMEESEE

FRRETER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMWEFNAEERRESSE

Impairment of trade receivables

B 5 EWs AR E

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had gross trade receivables
of approximately HK$174,892,000 before deducting loss
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$3,742,000.
RZBEZ=F+-A=+—H X ESEZEZERFIELELD
174,892,000% 7T (FIBR BB B8 B 4 40 3,742,000 B TTAT) ©

Significant management judgements, estimations and
assumptions are required in determining the expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) of the trade receivables, with reference to the
groupings of various customer segments, ageing profile of the
trade receivables, historical loss experience, past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
ErESRYGIENTEREEER ([FEREEHE] KAED
BEAREBEBHE L RBR K2EZZFOHSE - EH
JEWRIRRRERIE N - EEBELR - BEFE - BARRREKL
AR TR o

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of the balance
and the significant judgements and estimates required in
assessing ECLs of trade receivables.

BT EE RN ERERRTGE ZRYGIEN ARG
BEEEREERAE R -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
B BN AR E MG RRMIFE3 & 18 ©

We evaluated management’s impairment assessment
of trade receivables and our key procedures included,
amongst others, (i) obtaining an understanding and
assessing the Group’s policy and approach to
determine the loss allowance for impairment,
including an evaluation of management’s relevant
judgements and estimates based on available
historical and forward-looking information; and (ii)
examining, on a sample basis, management’s
calculations and assumptions used to determine the
ECLs through testing of certain underlying
information generated by the Group’s financial
reporting system and assessing the repayment history
of certain debtors as well as applicable forward-
looking factors with reference to related publicly
available information. We also assessed the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
B EREYEE S RESANRER G - mE
ERFE (AR () THETh EXREETR
BEEBRENER KRG E - BEREBAFEL RAI
WE M B R AT B IR B 0 AR A 2 B A st - B (i)
ECERERANECHNEEERNTERER -
FERAS BEXREMBRERSEXRNSE THEH
BRREE TEBEABNELIAREL2ZEB R
BAFERRBERAREERER - RPN GRS
¥k < AR ER o
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

BYZRBENRE (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRETEE

BRESEM®)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRAWESTNNEERRETEE

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

W77 E E AT FEE

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$56,449,000 as at 31 December 2023. The
Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts of
inventories to determine whether any write-down of inventories
to net realisable value is required after considering, inter alia, the
ageing analysis of inventories, current market conditions and the
expected future sales of goods and usage of materials.
ESEER_T_=F+_-RA=1—HAKRMAEEX 56,449,000
TZFEE . BEREHGFEEREEETEHASEMN  UREE
(e BFEZREDHT - MITHRREMTERRKRIEE &
MRS EEETEEFT 2R FEMREHLTERHE -

The determination of net realisable value requires management
to make significant judgements, assumptions and estimates that
affect the reported amount of inventories and related
disclosures.

B #RREREEERBIFLYETER RSB MEMNE
EEARHIE - R R AEE -

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of the balance
involved and the significant judgements and estimates required
in assessing the net realisable value of inventories.
BABIHEE T BNS ROESREA R EFE R #RFE
=2 B AL R b5 o

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.
AR ESHNGRE T EHRERMMTEIR1T °

Our related key procedures included, amongst
others, (i) observing physical inventory counts at
major locations and checking the condition of
inventories on a sample basis; (ii) obtaining an
understanding of the net realisable value assessments
made by management and evaluating the significant
judgements, assumptions and estimates adopted in
the assessments based on available information; (iii)
examining the inventory ageing and the usage of
materials on a sample basis; and (iv) comparing the
actual selling prices less costs of disposal of finished
goods sold, on a sample basis, to their carrying
amounts.
HAXZERFE (EF8RE) () MEREEMmBER
BMGFERERREFEMN : (i) THREREYHH
BEFEPMERE - WAHERIE IS E RO ER
B ERHE - RR LA (i) WEEETFERE
RMER®E  Rv)HEREREEX MmO EREE
B E AR R EAREE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B B HRE (F)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

TERFERERNEMER

ERRBEFAHHEMEEAR - HMESEETER
FEREANEL - BIBREESUBHRERLEMN
AN o

IR ZFEMESBRTANANERER °

HAEBMYGRAMBERROB  RMANEETIMHE
HMER  FAUREd  TEREMESETEEAM
BRI IBPIERSBREPAEROELFEEAE
BREUFFEERBERNBEN - EREFIEAITH
T MREMRR/EMEEFEERER  HMAF
EREXFE - EENHE - HIVRBEEFRSE -

ESNGREMBRRARENEE

BERAEEAABERBERSTMASROOFTEY
BREZARBERAEPINEERERBEEETNA
ANEREMBERE  XHEBRRESFE T BHRERL
BENFAEANKEFERME R EAHE RATHH
WERIEHIRE -

ERBEHEAMBERERE - ERREFAANE BX
BRELENES  YEERABATREESELSE
BRANEE URERKEKERSTER K
F BERAEZAER BEEEBBRIELRE =
AEEMEBERNBRTER

BIIZEEWHE BEAREZRETRECEE B
B P TR EBIE o

i
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B B HRE ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

BB E RS Y BRRABNEE

BANWER  RHSRAMBRRBEBRES T FEHR
HEF R M SR ERFEREARSSERE - I
HABEHRMERNZEEIRE - RAEHZRIR
TEHIRE - BRULASN » ARELB|EM AR - BT
ERABMENARTATAEMA LA EFAEEAE
£

BERELRKTNRE - BTERERBCEBERT
EANETHER AR - BRERTAERBEER -
FEIRE AR RRFF SR ER ARSI - MRAEEHEMES
HERERATGEFEBRAVBHRREBEKRBEAN
TR PTEH OV EORTE - RIB BRI A R (FE
% o

ERBC(EBEER)ETEFNBES  RMER
TEEHE - REFTEREREE - BT

o ERIAMFE AN EFEK IR R M BB A MR
REFEEANEHROER - ReT RAITRAEZFIA
RS EER R ARERTRMEENWETE
& ERBMERNER - HRREFA 8 RS
e EEER  ERRA - ORBRAE
22 £ FRRE IR EARFEME RN E A
BHRRE SN AEERERRMEHNEXH
ey EE o

o THREFRHAMMAIES - NRFHEEHET
B BEMINIEY SREREEHHAERIE
BREBR -

o HEE=MRASHBEENREMLRELSF
AETAAERE IR BB A IR -

s HEERAKEKLSHERNREE(ELA
i o RIBPTEREETER MEESFEESE
HHRBENEBENEANTHEEN - #MAEER
H BEENFARERIELSASRE - IR
HIRRFEEATHEEN @ BIABEEZEE
BETRBEREIZGEAMBRRTOIAM
BE - BREERNBRETR  RIRMEZHRIE
BREER - BfINEREERNZBERE LA
FESEVERHERRE » A1 - RRBHERIB AL
BY BRETRSELE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

B B HRE (F)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chung Chi Ming.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

25 March 2024

BREMA B REMBRREABNER @

o HESAMBEHRR(BEKE)NERSIFIA
EBIAR  AREEMBEHRRED AL RERE
R HNEIE -

o 3 BERERNERBAXRBFABNMBESENT
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BR-RMAR BEREFANM - EEMH
17 BIIRFEFBRARERNEE -
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BREEFIERT
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z _—Z—

EF+-A=S+—HIFE

2023
—E-=F
Notes HK$’000
Mo aE FHET
REVENUE U & 5 629,430
Cost of sales FHE R AR (462,360)
Gross profit EAH 167,070
Other income and gains H A A R W as 5 21,897
Selling and distribution expenses $HE Ko tH (20,298)
General and administrative expenses ~ —f& & 4T BB & (77,085)
Other expenses EMAR (1,728)
Finance costs BhE A AR 7 (568)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRF% A1 s A 6 89,288
Income tax expense FriSiiF 2 10 (14,205)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ARREE AEEFREF
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY
EARNINGS PER SHARE ARFEBRESEEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EhERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY 12
Basic and diluted EARREE HK31.3 cents
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2022

N

HK$'000
TAET

743,612

(562,835)

180,777
29,001
(19,492)
(77,838)
)

)

(1,131
(409

110,908

(16,644)

94,264

HK39.3 cents &1l



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_—E_=F+-A=1+—HILFE

2023
—E-=

HK$'000

FHT

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

FREF 75,083

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Other comprehensive loss that
may be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation

of foreign operations

Other comprehensive loss that
will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Change in fair value of a financial

Hit 2 EER

RERAEAIGEEF D EEREN
Hib 2 mEEE -

BEBINEFHE N =5

REREKAEHR D BEREH
Hip 2 EEE

WA ER AR MR E WS

asset at fair value through W EENRATEES)
other comprehensive income
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREMEZEEE
FOR THE YEAR
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AAREEAEEEREE
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO S48 %8

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

66,050

2022

— ey

HK$’000
TAT

94,264

(49,332)

(35)

(49,367)

44,897
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+—-A=+—H

Notes
Mo

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI~ S R 13
Investment properties KREME 14
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15(a)
Deposits for purchases of items BEYE  HEREHEEBD

of property, plant and equipment bicdcoa 19
Deposits e 19
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 25
Financial asset at fair value through BAFEFAEM

other comprehensive income 2E MBS EE 16
Total non-current assets FERBEEAE
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories TE 17
Trade and bills receivables B Z WA R RN EE 18
Prepayments, deposits and other BNFIE - ek

receivables H A fEUGRIR 19
Tax recoverable AT Uz Bl F I8
Pledged deposits e LR 20
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 20
Assets classified as held for sale SEAFELECEE 21
Total current assets MENEERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables B SN IAE 22
Other payables and accruals H b e RIB R BB R 23
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T ERITER 24
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(b)
Tax payable FEZTHIE
Total current liabilities mE B BB
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRBEE

CURRENT LIABILITIES
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HK$"000
FTERT

274,447
25,844
5,677

2,352
116
9,384

3,928

321,748

56,449
188,953

5,481
1,417
31,874
462,796

746,970

746,970

88,407
68,155
33,105

1,621
16,594

207,882

539,088

860,836

2022

N

HK$'000
TAET

293,267
26,868
6,329
678

116
9,300

4,019
340,577

87,080
212,778

5,550

31,522
377,555

714,485
3,319

717,804

103,346
68,282
35,983

1,580
18,765

227,956

489,848

830,425



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

31 December 2023 —TE-_=%#+_-HA=+—H

2023
—E-=F
Notes HK$'000
B 5E THET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREEE
Lease liabilities HEBRE 15(b) 569
Deposit received Biize 23 110,350
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEEE 25 21,766
Deferred income PHRIEUT A 23 7,503
Total non-current liabilities EmB B EERE 140,188
Net assets BEFHE 720,648
EQUITY E=
Equity attributable to owners ARATEE AEGEER
of the Company
Issued capital BT 26 2,400
Reserves s 28 718,248
Total equity B 720,648
Chan Yung Chan Wing Yin
FREB fREcE
Director Director
S o

2022

—_—=

HK$’000
THAT

965
111,950
25,782
8,330

147,027

683,398

2,400
680,998

683,398
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MERRgER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HZ —E_-_=F+=-A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RRAAIEE AR
Fair value
reserve
of a financial
asset through Land and
Share other building Exchange
Issued premium Capital ~ comprehensie ~~ revaluation  fluctuation Reserve Retained Total
capital account reserve income reserve reserve funds* profits equity
SARMRE
LGt
BE#f ftn BBAE  DHREF EX

o BB BiGlE  ATERE Eftfif KBER  RREE REEHN s
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
T T ThL T T ThL T T T

At 1 January 2022 RZE-—E-f-H 2,400 62,609 60,455 1,115 485 37,559 56,605 431,673 652,901
Profit for the year FREH - - - - - = - 94,264 94,264
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMZERE:
Change in fair value of a financial asset —BRATEFALMEE
at fair value through other eatafipiger-3
comprehensive income NFEED - - - (35) - - - - (35)
Exchange differences on translation of BEBNERNELZE
foreign operations - - - - - (49,332) - - (49,332)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FR2E N/ (%iiE) @5 - - - (35) - (49,332) - 94,264 44,897
Transfer from retained profits ERBREEF - - - - - - 8,294 (8,294) -
2021 final dividend —To-REKE - - - - - - - (14,400) (14,400)
At31 December 2022 R-F--Ft-A=t-H 2400 B89 G045 1080 g (1T 689 SBM 633%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
ReER2HX

Year ended 31 December 2023 #HE_-—T_-_=F1+_-HA=+—HI-FZ

Attributable to owners of the Company
AATEEAER
Fair value
reserve
of a financial
asset through Land and
Share other building Exchange
Issued premium Capital comprehensive  revaluation  fluctuation Retained
capital account reserve income reserve reserve profits
HARMRE
gy
BRI Rt HHEE  1HRET EX
&% wER  RARR  ATERE 0 ERRE  RBRRE  BREE  REER AR5
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TER TEn TEn TR TER TEn TEn TR TER

At 1 January 2023 R=Z==§-f-A 2,400 62,609 60,455 1,080 485 (11,773) 64,899 503,243 683,398
Profit for the year EREH 75,083 75,083
Other comprehensive loss for the year: FREMEERE
Change in fair value of a financil asset —BRAFETALEEE
at fair value through other aEnaHEES
comprehensive income ATEEE (33)
Exchange differences on translation of REENEBNERZR
foreign operations (9,000)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year £R2ENE/ (Ki8) @5 75,083 66,050
Transfer from retained profits BREREET (6,:306) -
2022 final dividend o oRERE (28,800) (28,800)
At 31 December 2023 RZB-_=F+-f=t-H 62,609 60,455 485* (20,773)¢ 71,205 543,220 720,648

S Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment * BIEHBINBRIRE D FEER AR - B FRILNPEARKERN

enterprises, a portion of the profits of certain subsidiaries established in the B ([hE])HHBRANB EFAEREPEFEFEES o
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") is required to be transferred to the EREBESNARZIRS c EPEEBEES NS EELE
PRC reserve funds which are restricted as to use. These PRC entities are not B B AR AN ) 50% B - BIARZEVE EfE — SEE o R
required to effect any further transfer when the amount of the PRC reserve Bl & £ & Al FA{E B 12 A B R0 B sk AR 1 I sE AR K o

funds reaches 50% of their registered capital. The PRC reserve funds can be
used to make good their future losses or to increase their registered capital.

& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of # ZERERP BERGRA TR NR AR A %#718,248,000
HK$718,248,000 (2022: HK$680,998,000) in the consolidated statement BT (ZZT = —4 : 680,998,000 7T) °

of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
f _\éiﬁﬁﬁié‘%

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE_—ZT_-_=F+-A=+—HI-FZ

Notes

B E

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETEFBHEERE

ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax BR B4 A& A
Adjustments for: BTN FIEFRE
Finance costs B AN 7
Bank interest income HITHEWA 5
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BB LR EITE
equipment 6
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE 6
Write-down of inventories to net WoR T & = Al #3858
realisable value 6
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) B 5 fEUWZIAE K UL Z 4%
of trade and bills receivables BB, CRERE) 6
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment REMENTEEE
properties (Yezx) 6
Amortisation of deferred income i ST A 2 5
Write-off of items of property, plant  #i$5% - BiE &R EE B
and equipment 6
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWZE « WEMREEE
plant and equipment g 6
Decrease in inventories FER D

Decrease in trade and bills receivables

Decrease in prepayments, deposits and FE{T /I8 ~ 26 K H th fE UL

B 5 AR & R R BOR

other receivables FRIER
Decrease in trade payables B SN FIRR S
Increase/(decrease) in other payables — E fth fE{ 2k T8 & B+ &
and accruals #an, O )
Exchange realignment M 5, e B
Cash generated from operations EEEKENRE
Interest received BHFE
Interest paid EARFE
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBEFEH
Overseas taxes paid BRIEINIHIR

Net cash flows from operating activities &4 HENFT{SIR & h 8 %58
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HK$"000
FTERT

89,288

568
(11,866)

26,794
1,926

820
(1,041)

644
(1.872)

112

964

106,337
29,003
23,568

3
(14,065)

(162)
(2,027)

142,657

11,866
(568)
(5.520)
(16,144)

132,291

2022

N

HK$'000
FHT

110,908

409
(2,919)

27,693
1,937

131
1,783

(58)
(2,355)

501

138,030
9,833
32,175

4,779
(27,903)

10,358
(5,615)

161,657
2,919
(409)
(13,336)
(9,415)

141,416



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 HE—-ZE_=

Fr-A=1T—HIEFE

2023

—E-=F

Notes HK$'000
B 5E THET

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Deposits paid for purchases of items
of property, plant and equipment

Receipts of government grants

Increase in certain time and bank
deposits pledged as security for
certain banking facilities and bills
payable

REZFHRERERE
BEWE  BENMREEEB

HEWE  BEAREER
FT{S 508

BEYE  BEKZEEE
Frftizs

BRI 6 B

=T EH R IRITIE AN -
BERIES TIRITRE &
FE =I5 2 K 1

(480)

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

REGRSMARSREFHE

(10,301)

CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRSASRE

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank borrowings FIEIRTTIE R 48,911
Repayment of bank borrowings BEBIRTTIER (51,564)
Principal portion of lease payments HENZKAEI S 29(b) (1,681)
Dividend paid ERRE (28,800)
Net cash flows used in financing BB EBFRARESREFE

activities (33,134)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRASEEYEMFHE

CASH EQUIVALENTS 88,856
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERBSEEY

beginning of year
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

[ERBEFTE

377,555

(3,615)

462,796

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRESZEY
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCEOFCASH RERBELSZEYEBDON
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances He MIRITE R

20 462,796

RESEZRERAQA / £, 2023

2022

— ey

HK$’000
THAT

(252)

(8,117)

114,632
(110,659)
(1,703)
(14,400)

(12,130)

121,169
272,342

(15,956)

377,555

377,555
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RARKEEHR
The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on ARBIRZZE—MNELANBEREFSTM
8 July 2014 as an exempted company with limited liability. BN RERGEBR AR o NA R A FEM R
The address of the registered office of the Company is #F 7 Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of Isandse R AR M EEZEEWMHE /BB I
business of the Company is located at Room 809-810, B2 B ¥ )8 B B 151-1535% & & 17 0809~
Kwong Sang Hong Centre, 151-153 Hoi Bun Road, Kwun 810E °
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
During the year, the Group was principally engaged in the FA - AEEFTZERELEREEENRE
manufacture and sale of printed circuit boards. FEAR ©
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The AAalROREBEERX S MAER A A (5
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock REFDERET - EERE ARAFRZE
Exchange”). In the opinion of the directors, the immediate BEBEAALSGRERADABREE 4%
holding company and the ultimate holding company of the M ® A 5 i it & 32 2 Million Pearl Holdings
Company is Million Pearl Holdings Ltd., which is Ltd. °
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
Information about subsidiaries BENE L RHNER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: RATRMBRARMFBOT
Place of Issued ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/  Percentage of equity
registration and paid-up attributable to the
Name business registered capital Company Principal activities
MR BRTZERE/
£8 R A it B MEEMBE AAFEEEZEIN FEEK
Direct  Indirect
Ef# &
Yan Tat Group Limited British Virgin Islands/ Us$100 100 - Investment holding
Hong Kong
RBERAREE/ 1005 7T REER
0
Jumbo Height Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 = 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
ERBRRA EEERRES/ (E REER
BE
Vital Alliance Global Limited British Virgin Islands/ US$1 = 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
ZARRERDA EREBRES/ (E RERR
B
Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 = 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
BE(BB)EXERAA &R 5,000,000 7T EEHRIEHR
76 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. R2IAREEER %)

(continued)

made by management of the Company to directly translate their
Chinese names as these companies did not register any official

English names.

ZERAMNRXEBDARAEREFERA
NEEBRETXRBHRE BAZERA

Place of Issued ordinary
incorporation/ share capital/  Percentage of equity
registration and paid-up attributable to the
Name business registered capital Company Principal activities
R, BRTEERE
A8 R 33 i B HREMBRE AAREEEZEIL ETBER
Direct Indirect
EE Gk
Yan Tat Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$ 1,000,000 = 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
BEMBEAERAT B 1,000,000 77T EEHIRIZ R
Yan Tat International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Trading of printed circuit
boards
BEBREARRA £ BT BEHREER
Yan Tat Global Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Inactive
BERFBERAT B BT WHER
Yan Tat Printed Circuits PRC/Mainland China HK$165,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. "* of printed circuit boards
BEBR(RDARRA" R/ BN 165,000,00077C i R HE DRI ERAR
Grace Yan Tat Electronics PRC/Mainland China RMB 1,000,000 - 100 Property holding
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. **
EREEF(RINARAA" BB N REDE
1,000,000 7T
Yan Tat Environmental Technology PRC/Mainland China RMB43,100,000 - 100 Property holding
(Nantong) Co., Ltd. ™ #
HRRERRRRER AR BB N HEME
43,100,000 7T
Notes: Bt &E -
Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. BIRPEEEEMRIEBERE -
Registered as a limited liability company under PRC law. BIRFEEREMABERAR -
@ The English names of these companies represent the best effort g

K%
*

EEMERER AT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for a financial asset at fair value
through other comprehensive income and investment
properties which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
right results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group's share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

2.1

2.2

fim SLELZE (1)

REEE(H)

B AREAREZHMBEHRRNREH
R YRAB-BEABRREH WER
FAZEERASBERGESEZ B RE
BRE YHESAAREZEHERL
BRI -

MESEARRBEZEERGRE B
WA AXAERAREEXRERFARR S A

Fazfﬁimbiﬂﬁ/\h' = E-r’i%ﬂ fél

it B KB R =B E AT A = 18 5 HI
AREEF—EHRZEAFE AAEESE
HREDAEHREHR - WBARES
TERERS M B B (W 4B K R P AE ) ABR I {E
X5 °

AN E R E S — R B QR 2 E b E'JE,%%
IHEREREE (BEAE) - BF - EMIFE

*& i M E N KB R - REERATIRE Eﬁ&éz
NEERBEPEIARLESZ BERSEAR - &
FIRNEMEHREANERNANEERERS S
BIER  REAEECERLEREEELA
BEERNEREESH DB EBEHREEN ©

B BRREBE 22T

AEBERAFENT KRR ERRAATH
I RRBERT BB B IME LR -

ERMBRELNE TR REEL

BRGHERF 1R BB ERE
EEPHIRELER
ERBEAE 25 (BFIA)

EE G EAE 8 Bt lhatE %
CHEN,

BRGEFE 125 HE—X GELH
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

80

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy information
in note 2 to the financial statements. The
amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any
items in the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates
are defined as monetary amounts in financial
statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception
in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments did not
have any significant impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group upon initial application.

22 S BERBEZEE (8

ERARAEENF REETRENBEREE
AR MEE R BaEutmT

(a)

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023

BEGFENF 1R (EFTA) ERERHK
BEBASHBEREN  MIFEERE
B - et BREFLER B RMBHE
THEMEN—HER  AERRZE
BRI ERRAYBHRANEI2ERAER
BREMBERRIELORE - ZFEMA
BEZ FAEVBRSENEKBHE?2
5t (I RTAR) (B A [ At iR Al FE & =T
BERBETEAERER IR IR H]1E
BE - AEERNMBHRRME2HEEX
SEBREFR - ZFEFTANEAKER
AP EARE W E  ERN2FAE

ERIFE -

BEGFEF K (EFTA) BASFE
AEPRSTHREBNER - FFTAE
MERRTFEFETEEENMBHRERA
MEBSHE - ZFEFATMARRNME
AT ERM kB ABRRE S Gt
R ARE N J7A R R B Z FERT A —
B AZFEIAHARENPBEHRER
WEEE

R EMNBE12R(BATA) HE—x
DELREER R & F B aEL TR
MNEB G ERIZE 12 KSRGS E
CEETBEARNEERSNERB R
HREREZENRZS - fInBEERER
BfE-Flt BRARZERFELENT
BERERREHAREE(HERBRR
B ERB SN MELERIBRE - REKX
JERR  RFEIIAHAKENR AN
SRBFEREMERZE



Notes to Financial Statements

B IS SRR M AL

31 December 2023

—E_=F+-HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

2.3

(d)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or
substantively enacted but not yet in effect. The
Group has applied the amendments retrospectively.
Since the Group did not fall within the scope of the
Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did not have
any impact to the Group.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7

Leaseback’
Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)' 4
Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)" 4
Supplier Finance Arrangements’

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

Lack of Exchangeability?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

2.2

2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that
relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.

2.3
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early
application permitted. An entity that applies the 2020
Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously the
2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of the amendments and whether
existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a
preliminary assessment, the amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier
application of the amendments is permitted. The
amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at
the beginning of the annual reporting period and interim
disclosures. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.3 CEMEERERNERBMBREER
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at
a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking. The
amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a
currency not being exchangeable. Earlier application is
permitted. When applying the amendments, an entity
cannot restate comparative information. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of
equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group'’s financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and an
equity investment at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

2.3

24
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 2 —

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for
which the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

86

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other
than inventories, investment properties, deferred tax assets
and non-current assets classified as held for sale), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)
(if)
(iif)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is @ member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

88

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property,
plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when it
is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is
not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

2.2% to 4%
33':%

9% to 18%
9% to 33'/3%
30% to 33'3%

Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties are
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than through
continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or
disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups
and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and
liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant
and equipment classified as held for sale are not
depreciated.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

90

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease
payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is included in other income in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as other income in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost
and fair value through other comprehensive income.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI")
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business
model.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are held
within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, except when the
Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of
the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are
recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EAREFBEE (&)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

RILEANBEE
—BUBEE(L(NER) EHUBEEN
Mok — ARV BEENTS) TEH
UTHEARKRLBER(ANEAERENEKEE
MBARRARBHIER) -

e REEMSEsREWNEND B
%

s AKECHBHELEEDRSHRZR
ENRBNICR—BIBEN] ZHT
AESRENRTREZIRRAF =
TXFWMEL BB EERER:
@A SBCEBZEENB KB
DEBRRERER KOAKERESHE
NERBEZEENBABD AR I
E% - BEEBZEENIEGIE -

MASBEEEBRHEREERTRSRE
MEMNKECITZENRZHE EFEEER
BEEHARNRAR RO R ARBEBRE
BeMUBEBRTERBDEENBAI
DREREDR TEEBREENZHE
AIXAEERERE2REEREERRIAR
BBEE - EZBRAT AEETHER —
HEBEL wEBEBREERMEBEBE DR
BRRASECHRENENEZETONE
EtE -

NHEHREEREERIFRAERZ
SELR RUTMETREZNE: 2
EE FEEABELAEEAEES B
fRfm -

oot

BEEEERERAT / F3§ 2023 93



Notes to Financial Statements

B RS SR AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+—-HA=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

94

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those
credit exposures for which there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 120 days past
due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 120 days past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of default
based on reasonable and supportable information,
including the Group'’s credit risk control practices and the
historical recovery rate of financial assets over 90 days past
due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also
consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or
external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the
Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage3 ~—  Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

24 EARSFBE @)

M EERE(E)

— L (&)
AEERANERBHNANEREE
BIEEN - AEBECRBEAERAENE
B ERAKRENERRAREZENER LS
HI90 A A EH) & BRE A M 52 Bl - HERRE
HI90RMEKIRE - A - RETHERT » fi
MEBRINGEE R AR - FERT M AN SR B4 A /O (A7
EREFHERA - NREE AR EEBREIRE
BAKNFIR  AAEENAIRREREEELN -
HEEAERHPKEANRSRE - AIMEHESE

REBHKAGENVBEERE KA
ERERR TG EHREEEFERNSEERS
B MBS RWCGRIAE R T X e AR
AN o

F—HER — GEEERBVAERRLE
RIEBIMA TR - HiE
BRERSN12EABRE
EEBENESEE

F_BER — FEEERBVIREREARE
OB & B IR EERER
MBTAE HEEBEBREEES
REREHREEHEENSHE

E

F=FER — RHEAHESHRESRE
MPBEE(BEBELE
ERITEERERE)  H
BERGREREHEHIE
EBENESHETE

fE{LE

RTESEAREAKSONE S REFIAL
EAEEEATHBEAREAKRLIZEN
ATHEETTER - AREAERREEEREE
RE - RIBECE - AEBELEEREE R

BEVE( - BEREHREAMRBEENEREES
BEREBEEE - AEECDREBEEEBERL

B BV BEERE - WREBAREERRENR
ERTRMERRELFEE -

BEEEERERAT / F3§ 2023 95



Notes to Financial Statements

B RS SR AR MY AL

31 December 2023 —ZE_=#+—-HA=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in the case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EAREFHBEE (&)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it
is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in the statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

98

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are
expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to
the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life
of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EREFBEE (&)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

Revenue from the sale of printed circuit boards is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
printed circuit boards.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2.4 EAREFHBEE (&)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of
exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of
monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of
transactions. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in
the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Determination of functional currency

In determining the functional currency of each entity of
the Group, judgement is required to determine and
consider the currency that mainly influences sales prices of
goods; the currency that mainly influences costs of
providing goods; the currency in which funds from
financing activities are generated; and the currency in
which receipts from operating activities are usually
retained, etc. The functional currency of each entity is
determined based on management’s assessment of the
primary economic environment in which the entities
operate. When the indicators are mixed and the functional
currency is not obvious, management uses its judgement
to determine the functional currency that most faithfully
represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events and conditions.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Measurement of an unlisted equity investment at fair
value

The fair value of an unlisted equity investment that is not
traded in an active market is estimated by management
with reference to valuation performed by an independent
professionally qualified valuer by using valuation technique
that requires various sources of information and
assumptions. The carrying amount of the Group’s unlisted
equity investment at 31 December 2023 was
HK$3,928,000 (2022: HK$4,019,000).

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@)  current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences; and

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in
economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31
December 2023 was HK$25,844,000 (2022:
HK$26,868,000). Further details, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement are given in
note 14 to the financial statements.

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amount
of inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value is required after
considering, inter alia, the ageing analysis of the Group’s
inventories, current market conditions and the expected
future sales of goods and usage of materials. Write-down
of inventories will be made when the estimated net
realisable values of inventories decline below their carrying
amounts. Net realisable values of inventories are based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal. These estimates are
made with reference to the current market conditions and
the historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. Actual selling prices and
saleability/usage of goods/materials might be different
from estimations and profit or loss could be affected by
differences in the estimations.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The
IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have to
pay”, which requires estimation when no observable rates
are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into
financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency).
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such
as market interest rates) when available.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s
trade and bills receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the
financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding tax in
respect of certain unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries of the Group established in Mainland China to
the extent that the directors are of the opinion that it
would be probable for distribution in the foreseeable
future. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities that should
be recognised. Further details are contained in note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
Recognition of deferred tax assets primarily involves
management judgement and estimations regarding the
taxable profits of the entities in which the losses arose.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group focused primarily on the manufacture and sale
of printed circuit boards during the year. Information
reported to the Group's chief operating decision maker,
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the Group's resources are integrated and no
discrete operating segment financial information is
available. Accordingly, no operating segment information
is presented.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, REFHFER (8
(continued)
Geographical information wEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) ZREIIMBEFHWZE
2023 2022
—E_-= B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Mainland China A B A i 282,805 282,845
Europe M 136,485 197,528
Hong Kong B8 3,620 4,446
North America b= 54,321 69,486
Asia (except Mainland China and M (N EERE N RES)
Hong Kong) 149,465 183,568
Africa FEM 2,710 5,563
Oceania AEM - 60
South America =M 24 116
Total revenue Pl 629,430 743,612
The revenue information above is based on the Pt ER T ER TETERN TP E
locations of the customers who placed the orders. b2
(b) Non-current assets (b) FERBEE
2023 2022
—=E_-= —E_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Hong Kong &5 4,235 2,838
Mainland China B A i 304,201 324,420
Total non-current assets EREEELRE 308,436 327,258
The non-current asset information above is based on RS EEER NEREEMEE
the locations of the assets and excludes a financial P BEABE—EEAFEFAEMETR
asset at fair value through other comprehensive WK B 58 E RRERIEE = o
income and deferred tax assets.
Information about major customers ERIEEFNER
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for RE®EERP A (HARSEEHE 10% A
10% or more of the Group’s revenue is set out below: B)&EIT -
2023 2022
—E-= =ER = —&E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET T
Customer A ZEA 146,514 184,774
Customer B ®FB 102,934 N/A NiE
Customer C ZEC N/A TE A 88,968
106 Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAIN

Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information — timing
of transfer of goods
The Group'’s timing of transfer of goods in respect of
its entire revenue is at a point in time.

(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Sale of printed circuit boards

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the printed circuit boards and payment is generally
due within 30 to 90 days from delivery.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as
follows:

Wi - EAbUA R
REEFEH W
() ZHEBHZER —EBEYNER

REER WA EYER R R AL
EIE

(i) BITEE
AR AEERITEENERBIRAT

74 E IR B ZE IR
BITE TN ZENRIERERE ER - Mt
FEE AR 30E90 HREE -

Was - EARA R KRS D ITEFIT

2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Revenue from contracts with KEEFEHN 2N
customers
Sale of goods HEE SR 629,430 743,612
Other income Hug A
Bank interest income RITH 2 WA 11,866 2,919
Rental income LU A 568 538
Government grants” AT G 2,037 5,854
Income linked to recycling [B] W AR BE Y U A 4,566 8,966
Others HAith 65 425
19,102 18,702
Gains &
Fair value gain on investment properties TEYF 2 AT ERE - 58
Foreign exchange gains, net b 5 e 2 )5 R 2,795 10,241
2,795 10,299
PA RV 29,001

The government grants recognised during the year mainly
represented grants received from certain government authorities of
the PRC in recognition of the Group's efforts in environmental
awareness and protection and technological development. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants
recognised during the year.

F A B RERHOBUT 47 R 3 45 B UK B 3B TEF Bl
FEERPIEE AV FBRE - MRBARBERRE A RFRER
BMBERENENSE N - BEAEZSHENREKIE
KA FIRNE NHER ©
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting):

6. BRBUADER

2023
—Eg-=
Notes HK$'000
B 5E F#&T
Cost of inventories sold"® EETFERKA e 462,360
Auditor's remuneration 1% ER A BN & 2,225
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ - BEREETE
equipment 13
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEETE 15(a)
Employee benefit expense® (including EERAAXL(BIERKE
directors’ and chief executive’s RSN EENESR
remuneration as disclosed in note 8): THABME) :
Wages, salaries, allowances, bonuses, I8 #He - 28h 184
commission and benefits in kind e EEYEN 84,455
Pension scheme contributions BRI
(defined contribution schemes)** (R FRGETEY) ** 217
Other employee benefits Hitnfg 8@ 7 6,153
90,825
Research and development costs** T R B R B A 6,755
Write-off of items of property, plant Y - BEKZEER
and equipment 85 13 112
Write-down of inventories to WRFTEE
net realisable value” A &I HE " 820
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment BEMENTEEE
properties* (Hs) 644
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of B 5 e R IE K I = iR
trade and bills receivables BB, CREEE) 18 (1,041)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYE  BE R&E
plant and equipment? HE 2 BEY 964
Foreign exchange differences, net* ME 5, 2= HE SRR * (2,795)
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6. BRBIANER (%)
* These gains are included in “Other income and gains” and the * RiFEEER  ZFRESEA TEMBRARKER] -
losses are included in “General and administrative expenses”, as EBAITA [ —MRRITERAZ I (ER) °

appropriate, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

# The gain is included in “Other income and gains” and the loss is # RERABER  ZFWRETA [EBA Rz -
included in “Other expenses”, as appropriate, in the consolidated EERIET A [ J(EA) -
statement of profit or loss.

@ Employee benefit expense of HK$42,244,000 (2022: @ R AR A B R 422440008 T( =T = = F:
HK$55,752,000) is included in “Cost of inventories sold” in the 55,752,000/ 70 fIfE BEFFASIAIEEFEMA]

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

A Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in “Cost A RRARERR  WREEERZRFEFAEERFE
of inventories sold” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. KA e

# Research and development costs are included in “General and ## RiFEBEHE  ARREBRKANFAT R RITEHA
administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or X le
loss.

& There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group 2 R E S M R AT E AR E B AE X AN R AHK
as the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions. At 31 KE-RZTZ=F+-A=+—H ' #ESRKHERX
December 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions available AR AREBER D EARAKRFEHNRRFEHK(ZTE ==
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future years FME) -

(2022: Nil).
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. AERA
2022
—_=ZF
HK$'000
FAT

Interest on: ATEEHFE -

Bank loans and trust receipt loans RITERRETBIEER 336
Lease liabilities HEAE 73
409
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8. DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EEBERFEITHRAEHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIEHE R FTEE S LR A ([ LW - &8 A
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of AEBIZE383(1)@) * (b) * (QRMIEREE AR (H
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), BESN=ER AE_HEENFEESR
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong FEITHAEFIME SO T ¢

Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022
—_=_-= T _F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
Fees EH 2,327 1,968
Other emoluments: E b

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e FEBEREWERN 5,252 5,55/
Commission e 4,936 4,356
Pension scheme contributions RS ETEIME R 18 18
10,206 9,925
12,533 11,893

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BUFHITES

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FABNBIYIERTESZZ2ERWT ¢

during the year were as follows:

2023 2022
—g2=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR
Mr. Chung Yuk Ming EBERLAE 221 204
Mr. Yau Wing Yiu RSB ST A 221 204
Mr. Lau Shun Chuen 2Bz %k & 221 204
663 612
There were no other emoluments payable to the F BB B AT E S 2 H Ath Zr
independent non-executive directors during the year (ZTB——F &)
(2022: Nil).
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, a non-executive
director and the chief executive

Fees
A
HK$'000
TR
2023 —BC=E
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Chan Wing Yin* BREB LA+
Mrs. Chan Yung REzL
Mr. Chan Yan Wing* BRR KA

Non-executive director: FRTES :
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong REXEAE

8. EERFETHAERHMNE

(b)

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind

E RS 4191
ENAE
HK$'000
TER

HITES FUTESRERTEA
g

Pension
scheme Total
Commission contributions remuneration
Bike
s STEIfR 270 Foe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER

4,936

4,936

2022 —E_CE
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Chan Wing Yin* BRESE 4 * 474 2,154 = - 2,628
Mrs. Chan Yung RELT 474 1,617 = = 2,091
Mr. Chan Yan Wing BREKEAE 204 1,430 4,356 18 6,008
1,152 5,201 4,356 18 10,727
Non-executive director: FHTEE
Mr. Chan Yan Kwong BB LA 204 350 - - 554
1,356 5,551 4,356 18 11,281
g Mr. Chan Wing Yin resigned as chief executive officer of the & PRECE X EBEADNRITHRAR  UR=-F
Company with effect from 1 August 2023. —=FNA—BEK-
g Mr. Chan Yan Wing was appointed as chief executive officer 5 FREGKSEEWEERRNRARTERAR - W=

of the Company with effect from 1 August 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no remunerations were paid by the Group to
any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of
office.

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2022: Nil).

=== NE = IElEesie

BE-_Z-_=Fk=-_ZT-__F+=A
=t HLEFE AEETERERNES
TS - tEAEMAREERNFE M
AREE OIS I ERRERMANFE -

FAMEBELZHBEEFAEIETHR
AEREXRBRBERDHFM (T
FE|) -
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
three directors (2022: three directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2022:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor the chief executive of the Company are as follows:

9.

TEmEFHNES

FARERRTNEERE=R( =T __F:
SR)EE HFBFBRN EXHES e 8T
ME(ZE_—F: MA)momES (BRIEXR
RAREENMFETETRAE) RFERNFIFES
ESUR NN

2022
—E- %
HK$'000
FET

Salaries and allowances
Pension scheme contributions

e MOERE
RIKEEBIHR

3,589
36

3,625

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

HHBRATRENSSHHES GFESRE
FBITHAR) ABBIIMT :

Number of employees

EEEHE
2022
— -
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 =% 1,000,00078 7T =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 & T2 1,500,000 7 7T =
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7 7T = 2,000,000 /5 7T 2
2

The non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees are also members of senior management of the
Group. During the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022, no remunerations were paid by the Group to any of
these highest paid non-director or non-chief executive
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.
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31 December 2023

10.

—E-=F+=-H=+—H

INCOME TAX 10. FRGH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of BB NGB I RE N BB E £ 5t EaRT
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits SAE16.5% (ZZ == : 16.5% ) T2 &4 -
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one HEAEBEN—ENB AT ZARAFEM
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under BHAEFHEHREGHENERE - ZWB AR EE
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first 2,000,000/ 7T ( =& = = £ : 2,000,000 % 7T )
HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits B FE 22 B ot M 12 8.25% (— T = —4F : 8.25%)
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and RGN - ARERBORN A 16.5% (—F
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2022: T 2 16.5%) BB R BT o Hoth 3[R #) FE R
16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been PR HIEERIBEAEBEEMEIEERRD
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions BWITRERTE -
in which the Group operates.
The provision for land appreciation tax has been estimated T+ IR E R 2 B B iR G B BRI K AR B B
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC M EEL MG o DR ERIRIEEBERRE
laws and regulations. Land appreciation tax has been ETAMBCERE  RRIEH R 2 BE E L5
provided at ranges of progressive rates of the appreciation & e
value, with certain allowable deductions.
All subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC are FERN - AEERAPBIK A FTA B QR AR
subject to PRC corporate income tax at a standard rate of 25% (=T = =4 : 25%) IR ER KH R+
25% (2022: 25%) during the year, except for a subsidiary REEFTISH - WK E M E A RETR At
of the Group which qualified as a High and New FERTBEMEENER  RERNRREANFEH
Technology Enterprise in Mainland China and a lower PRC REMEHE15% (ZZEZZF : 15%)#F °
corporate income tax rate of 15% (2022: 15%) has been
applied for the year.
2022
g
HK$'000
FHTT
Current — Hong Kong BNER — &%
Charge for the year FAZH 4,517
Overprovision in prior years MEFEHREEE (20)
Current — Mainland China BVER — A E A
Charge for the year FALZH 10,471
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR =
Deferred (note 25) IRAE (P 5E25) 1,676
Total tax charge for the year FABIEX H AR 16,644
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10.

11.

114

ot Lo = - 9F

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge applicable to profit
before tax at the statutory rate for Hong Kong in which
the principal place of business of the Company and certain

10. FrE8i (&)

of its major subsidiaries is located, to the tax charge at the

effective tax is as follows:

BARNBRETEZWMNEBEAREEEEMHL
IRZ 7B BATE B X 5T B8 A R BR B A A #Y 75
HERERBREAENRIRNER - #2I0T ¢

2022
—=FE-—
HK$’000
FATT
Profit before tax B A5 B 1 110,908
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax BB IEEIEK 16.5%
rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) =% :16.5%)
STETIE 18,300
Effect of different tax rates for PR EEENTERE
specific entities in the PRC % (1,418)
Adjustment in respect of current oL@ 1T HA RS T BN HA AR 18 1) 7 =X
tax of previous periods (20)
Income not subject to tax R R Z WA (256)
Expenses not deductible for tax PRI 2 B 2 1,943
Effect of withholding tax at 5% F B8 B B8 % 1A AT 0 I Al
on the distributable profits of 1218 5% R KB IR
a PRC subsidiary EERFE 1,796
Additional deduction for research fift 9% N 25 R B AR BB S MDA
and development costs (3,333)
Others HAth (368)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate  3RANE[E BREH KT E 1A 16,644

DIVIDEND

The Board recommended to declare a final dividend of
HK10.0 cents (2022: HK12.0 cents) per ordinary share,

1. RE

EEe R EREE S+ =A=1—
HIEFERRBRE SR LB 10.038(1L(=

=

=

equivalent to a total amount of HK$24,000,000 (2022:
HK$28,800,000), for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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31 December 2023 —ZE—-=F+_-HA=+—H

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. XAREEREREABGERET
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

COMPANY
The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount for FRARAEBERAFEEARLZERELRER
the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the FMEBDHBBEAQR S HEEREEABGEFER
Company is based on the profit for the year attributable to i F1) 75,083,000 7 7T ( = F = —4F : 94,264,000
ordinary equity holders of the Company of HK$75,083,000 BLT)RAFEERETERARMNE T AH
(2022: HK$94,264,000) and the weighted average number 240,000,000 f& ( — & — — £ : 240,000,000 f% )
of ordinary shares of 240,000,000 (2022: 240,000,000) in FTHE
issue during the year.
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per AR EERNEE TS =R _FT_—_F+=
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 December A=+T—HALEEWTEAEERSWE LB
2023 and 2022 in respect of a dilution as the Group had TEER - M ESE N REFERY 2
no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue during these BIREREFSEIFL AR
years.
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% BERSZE
Furniture,
landand  Construction Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor
buildings in progress  improvements machinery equipment vehicles
&E - Ee
R8T ERIR 858  HEREE  HERRG A&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
THRL FHR F#n Fi#n T THRL
At 1 January 2023: WZB-=%-f-R:
Cost A 220388 32,356 24,087 21479 27,363 583,134
Accumulated depreciation ZHTE (59,941) - (20,116) (178,503) (24,175) (289,867)
Net carrying amount REFE 160,447 32,356 3971 92,976 3,188 293,267
At 1 January 2023, net of R-E-=%-F-H"
accumulated depreciation EMRZEHTE 160,447 32,35 397 92,976 3,188 293,267
Additions BE 244 1,571 4,128 180 9,190
Transfers (131) 131 - - -

&f
Transfer from deposits for EUARENE  BER
purchases of property, plant FERENRE

and equipment - 1,634 1,634
Disposals irk - (1,571) (1,725)
Write-off i - (46) (112)
Depreciation provided during FRFTERE

the year (8,814) (1,231) (15,838) (26,794)
Exchange realignment B H% (2233) () (1479) (4,286)
Reclassifcation from assets B E AEER

held for sale (note 21) A8 (HrzE21) 3213 - - 3273
At 31 December 2023, net of RWZE-=F

accumulated depreciation +-A=+-8-

BAREHNE 152,668 32,005 79,804 274,047
At 31 December 2023: i

+-A=1t-R:
Cost %S 223,805 32,005 263,547 8,855 580,853
Accumulated depreciation 2:E (11,137 - (183,743) (5,861) (306,406)
Net carrying amount REFE 152,668 32,005 79,804 2,9% 274,441
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥1%  BERRZE(E)

(continued)

Furniture,
landand  Construction Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
buildings in progress  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
8 EE
TR HRIE HEXE  HRRES  KERRR e @t
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR TR L T TR TR TR
At 1 January 2022; WZB-Zf-f-R:
Cost KA 204,728 71,535 24,948 295,901 29477 7,705 634,294
Accumulated depreciation Zithe (55,567) - (20,629) (177,944) (25,827) (7,227) (287,194)
Net carrying amount FEFE 149,161 71,535 4319 117,957 3,650 478 347,100
At 1 January 2022, net of RZF-ZF-A-R-
accumulated depreciation EMRZ5E 149,161 71,535 4319 117957 3650 478 347,100
Additions NE - 323 1219 2,408 173 2% 4147
Write-off i - (449) - (44) 8 - (501)
Transfer fEdcd 34,369 (34,369) - - - - -
Depreciation provided EnfERE
during the year (9,456) - (1,200) (16,558) (342) (137) (27,693)
Exchange realignment % H% (13,627) (4,684) (367) (10,787) (285) (36) (29,786)

At 31 December 2022, netof ~ R-ZE-ZF

accumulated depreciation TZA=t+-8-
BB ZiE 160,447 32,35 3971 92,976 3,188 329 293267
At 31 December 2022: R-ZE-=F
TZAZt-RA:
Cost AR 220,388 32,356 24,087 271479 27,363 7461 583,134
Accumulated depreciation 25HhE (59,941) - (20,116) (178,503) (24175) (7,132) (289,367)
Net carrying amount REFE 160,447 32,356 3,971 92976 3,188 329 293,267
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. REYE

2022

T 4F

HK$'000

FHET

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BHREEE 29,293
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value NHEFAEWRZ(F8) 558

adjustment (note 6) (Pt3E6) 58

Exchange realignment b (2,483)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—B®EEE 26,868

The Group's investment properties consist of residential
properties and a commercial property in the PRC.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31
December 2023 based on valuations performed by Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at HK$25,844,000 (2022:
HK$26,868,000). Each year, the Group’s chief financial
officer decides, after approval from the directors, to
appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the
external valuations of the Group's investment properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s chief financial officer has
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results twice a year when the valuations are
performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

The investment properties consisting of a commercial
property and residential properties are leased to third
parties under operating leases, further summary details of
which are included in note 15 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, an investment property of the
Group with a carrying amount of HK$5,804,000 (2022:
HK$6,034,000) was pledged to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 24).

AEBNRENERETENEED X
R—IEERME -

AEENKREMER S _=ZF+_A=+—
AR BB BEA ARG EM A=A KT
HAR A AT 2 E1E25,844,0008 T (==
— 1% 126,868,000/ L) EFEHE c BELE
ERHLER - ANEE I ISAESREINEHERA
B LABEAEEREYENINEBEELE - F
EEAGEMSNG B2 BUMEEEFAE
B BEFE L THHPRFEYISHRE
HITHER - AEETFRESREERR
HESH LR EGEMEDWR -

H—IER A ERETYEAEKNIRE Y EER
KREBHNBETE=T7  E—THRFBECHEHAY
TR MIFE15

R-ZZE-_=F+-A=+—H A&EEBEREEE
75,804,000 7T (ZZ = =4 : 6,034,000 7T)
2 HEEMECKIFEARNEBER IR
TERZER(HFE24) -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

REWE )

DNFEER
TRAPBAEEREDEN D FEFE
B4 -

Fair value measurement using

ERATHABBNAFETE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
HIERT % EATEE EAXFAEE
HE W ABE PN ¢
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—%) (B=#) (B=8)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FTHERT THET THERT
Recurring fair value AT B IERE R
measurement for: NEERE
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=&
+—A=+—H~
Commercial property S1EEES 5,804 5,804
Residential properties EEME 20,040 20,040
25,844 25,844
At 31 December 2022 R-ZZE__%
+=—A=+—H~
Commercial property Sl - - 6,034 6,034
Residential properties FEmE - - 20,834 20,834
- = 26,868 26,868

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BEWEH)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) DNREBR(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised pak Y ?TEIEK&EP%*@}E’J N EEFE R
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: B :

Commercial Residential
property properties
mAYE EEME

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Carrying amount at 1 January 2022 RZZEZ—F—H—AMKEE 6,862 22,431
Net gain/(loss) from a fair value RIBR PR A F(E
adjustment recognised in profit or loss Was,/ (E518) 558 (257) 316
Exchange realignment PE 782 (571) (1,913)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2022 @ WKR-ZE-—F+—-A=+—HK
and 1 January 2023 —E_=F—HA—HHEREE 6,034 20,834
Net loss from a fair value REBZHP RN A T EFE
adjustment recognised in profit or loss EEFE (145) (499)
Exchange realignment PE 5 5 =& (85) (295)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 R-ZE-_=F+_-A=+—HK
,EEE{E 5,804 20,040

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and

AT RRENEGEMBNGEERTREZE

the key inputs to the valuation of the investment AZENHE -
properties:
Significant
Investment properties Fair value Valuation unobservable
held by the Group hierarchy technique input Range
REEFAEN BERANAEE
REW= DNFEER fEE 1l WARE gE
Commercial property Level 3 Sales comparison Estimated price per RMB24,336 to
in Mainland China method square metre RMB30,022
(2022: RMB23,268 to
RMB31,412)
NEHEAA A=)k S FE=R HE LBV FFHK AR 24336 TF
(EREELE /\Eﬂﬁ;o 022 7T
ARKE 23,268 TE
AR¥31,4127T)
Residential properties Level 3 Sales comparison Estimated price per RMB38,125 to
in Mainland China method square metre RMB42,099
(2022: RMB40,000 to
RMB49,813)
PR B A 2 (3 FE=/ HHE LLBUE BFITK AR¥E38,125 LE
T ER }\Emé;;lz 0997c

-

AR#40,000 L&
AER¥49,8137T)
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14.

15.

120

—F_=f{=A=+-H

—_—=—=

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

A significant increase/(decrease) in the estimated price per
square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the investment
properties. The investment properties are valued using the
sales comparison method having regard to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market. The
valuations take into account the characteristics of the
properties which include the location, size, floor level, year
of completion and other factors collectively.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain properties and a
vehicle. Lump sum payments were made upfront to
acquire the leased lands from the owners with lease
periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be
made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
certain properties generally have lease terms of 2 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

14.

15.

BEWE®)

NEEEBR(E)

KM ERNERIAREEZEMNCRD) &
BRI EYENAFEREENOR) - RE

WEAHELBOA(E - EFEENEETISA
HUEBNWREHERS - HESBBEEMEN
EREBHERELE K BE  BRFENHAR
HiRz= -

HE

AEBEEREEA

AEERBAETHERAENEESLDY -

—RMENFEEXNTHREAUREA
i HES0F BRBERZSZ Tl
ERAEBEAFBEXNEARE ETHE
HENHEHRARBESME  —RM = -
AEBARRAAEBHEZIIANATEERSD
HEEEE -

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) fEAEESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use RERN NEBMFERESEERERE
assets and the movements during the year are as AR EEEFT :
follows:
Leasehold
lands Properties Total
HEL# S &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR FHT
As at 1 January 2022 WZZE-_—_4—H—H 4414 2,159 6,573
Additions NE - 2,058 2,058
Depreciation charge WERY (245) (1,692) (1,937)
Exchange realignment 0 i 5% (365) = (365)
As at 31 December 2022 R-EBE-—&F+=-A=+—80HEK
and 1 January 2023 —E-_=%—HA—H 3,804 2,525 6,329
Additions NE - 1,326 1,326
Depreciation charge TEMY (234) (1,692) (1,926)
Exchange realignment P& N R (52) = (52)
As at 31 December 2023 RZTB-=4%
+=—A=+—8 3,518 2,159 5,677
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. HE @)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AEBEEREBEA (B)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the RERN BEEENREEERZS N
movements during the year are as follows: e
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—HA—AMEREE 2,545 2,190
New leases FHEE 1,326 2,058
Accretion of interest recognised FRE RERF SN
during the year 95 73
Payments (NEN (1,776) (1,776)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+-—A=+—BMEAEE 2,190 2,545
Analysed into: BTHIFEDHT :
Within one year —F R 1,621 1,580
After one year but within two years —F A FEMELAA 569 965
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBENIBY TR B ®RKM
note 35 to the financial statements. FE3SHEE o
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation () HHEEREZERNSI|LOT :
to leases are as follows:
2023 2022
ZE-=F s
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 95 73
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets {#FR#&EHTE X H 1,926 1,937
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A 825 FERH) 4258 2,021 2,010

(d)

29(b) to the financial statements. 7 29(b) °

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note d BELRSREFRERTEHREKN
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15. LEASES (continued) 15.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of a commercial property and nine residential
properties in the PRC under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to
pay security deposits. Rental income recognised by the
Group during the year was HK$568,000 (2022:
HK$538,000), details of which are included in note 5 to
the financial statements.

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

HE 3

REBEBBAA
AEBERECEHETHERPELAE
HEWE(HZE14) BRE—BERRUDER
NEEEDEHE - ZEFHEZIEKR—RERBFEX
MRES -AEBERFANEERAS WA B
568,000 7T ( — & = — 4 : 538,000/ 7T) * &
BRI E R B TS SRR MIRES o

R-ZE-=F+-_A=+—8 " A&EEREHEL
TP 2 T al #2087 oK ok HA RS A9 i Uk R
BRIRMAENRAT ¢

With one year —FR
After one year but within two years —F A EMEARN

2023 2022
—_E_= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TET

389 552

- 149

701

16. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

. BAOVESARMEARSENTBEE

2023 2022
—E-= R T

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHTT

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value 3% F{EFIE M IE - BRkE

KE

3,928 4,019

The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the
Group considers the investment to be strategic in nature.

R BRI R s B AR A PR A
Hin 2 ENGS - A AEER AR EB R
(=g

17. INVENTORIES 17. &8
2022
HK$'000 | 2o
FH&xT FET
Raw materials BRAE 18,918 26,112
Work in progress ER G 9,846 13,344
Finished goods X 27,685 47,624
56,449 87,080
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 18. ESEWREREKRERE
2022
—E-_F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHIT
Trade receivables =0 e e 174,892 193,115
Bills receivable U ZE g 17,803 24,487
192,695 217,602
Impairment B (3,742) (4,824)
188,953 212,778
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly AEEERERFHRIBAEEREEE
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in EHMEPRKEREBRRBRIN  AEEBHF
advance may be required. The Group maintains a defined AEGERXR BEFREFPELEBEHER
credit policy and credit periods are usually granted ranging HEAARERH —ZMOEAANEEH &
from one to four months from the month-end of the date SEEEHREERKFIESEFRSERZ
of invoice to customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict LEEREKEERR = REEETHE
control over its outstanding receivables to minimise credit ZRESR AEBUEGREE S ERK
risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior BREKREERREATMERGKEME
management. The Group does not hold any collateral or EET EHRBARERBERERS
other credit enhancements over its trade and bills TETE ©
receivables. Trade and bills receivables are non-interest-
bearing.
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at RBEAR BHRBFBEBREREER
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date BREZEANENBREEREENERR S
and net of loss allowance, is as follows: MEFIAT -
2023 2022
—==-= —ZE=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one month —@AMA 86,932 78,465
One to two months —ZMm{EH 46,838 57,923
Two to three months ME={AA 28,692 50,696
Over three months HBE=1EA 26,491 25,694
188,953 212,778
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

Sl Lea F = - SqF]

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade and bills receivables are as follows:

18. EZEWHRIEREWRE (&)

BHREFEREBERENEREEZEET

T

2023
—E_=

HK$'000

FEx

4,824

(1,041)
(41)

At 1 January n—A—H

Impairment loss/(reversal of REEE(BERE
impairment loss), net (note 6) B18) %5 (f36)

Exchange realignment BE 5 8 B

At the end of year FR

3,742

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Expected credit loss rate

Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000)

Expected credit losses
(HK$'000)

124

Less than
Current 1 month
g PR1EA
BHEES
BE 0.01% 0.09%
BERHEE
(FAL) 150,743 15,290
BHEEESE
(F#%L) 18 13
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2022

HK$'000
TAET

AEBERERE A BN ABRBEREETRED
1 At ERBEEER - BEXDERZER
BRUBBEANEF 2 B4 B &8 X 8
E o ZatEERBNBRE AR SAMBES
f  BRTIRE RARREBIGETRAN SRR AR

TR R -

TXEIIMABBERES HAEEE SRR

HEHNEERBNER

R-B-=%+-A=t+—H

Past due

A

Credit-
3to12 impaired
months receivables
EERE
ERRE

1to3
months

12318 3Z12{EA

0.18% 16.67% 100%

5,057

120 3,682

9 20 3,682
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18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

18. EZRUWHRERERERE (@)
R-B--%+=-A=t—H

Past due
Credit-
Less than 1t03 3t0 12 impaired
Current 1 month months months receivables Total
=ERIE
BE O ER 1E3A 3E12E A EUEUR X
Expected credit loss rate ~ FBER{ZEE
B 0.01% 0.03% 1.63% 30.77% 100% 2.22%
Gross carrying amount BB
(HK$'000) (F%&7T) 192,820 17,250 2,769 13 4,750 217,602
Expected credit losses HEEEEE
(HK$'000) (F#7T) 19 6 45 4 4,750 4,824
19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. FERRIE RERHEMERTIE
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Current ENHA
Prepayments Faft kIR 5,085 5,160
Deposits and other receivables e K E (el I8 396 390
5,481 5,550
Non-current JEBDEA
Deposits for purchases of items of BEWE  BEMREBEEERN
property, plant and equipments e 678
Deposits b 116
794

The financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no history of default
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and

it 4 R BT B 7 A S B NG 4 G 40 R SR D FIE Uk
RERBPREEE N_E_=FR T
F+-—A=1+—0 EFERERTERETIGHAE

2022, the loss allowance was assessed by management to 1k o

be minimal.
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

126

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

20.

RERBEE/YURCEREFR

2022
T
Note HK$'000
BiaE FATT
Cash and bank balances He MIRITE R 377,555
Pledged deposits BT 31,522
409,077
Less: S
Pledged time and bank deposits ATIRITRLE 2 2RI
for certain banking facilities TE B R ER1TIF 5K 24 (31,522)
Cash and cash equivalents for the ~ FiZS B EARREMS 2
purpose of the consolidated ReRREEEBY
statement of financial position 377,555

At 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances and
pledged deposits of the Group denominated in Renminbi
("RMB"”) amounted to HK$80,646,000 (2022:
HK$118,757,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances and
pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023
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21.

— = —

— =

=¢+=A=+—~

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

Yan Tat (HK) Industrial Limited (“YT Industrial”) is an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. On 8
May 2020, the Group entered into, amongst others, a
cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation Agreement”)
with certain independent third parties, pursuant to which
the relevant parties have conditionally agreed to cooperate
in connection with an urban renewal project, which
comprises of certain arrangements involving certain target
land parcels and related premises currently owned by the
Group. The Cooperation Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder (the “Transactions”) were
approved by the shareholders of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting held on 14 July 2020.
Further details of the Cooperation Agreement and the
Transactions are also set out in the Company's
announcements dated 15 May 2020, 14 July 2020, 24
June 2022, 14 October 2022, 1 December 2022 and 12
April 2023, and the Company’s circular dated 24 June 2020
(the “circular”).

Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, in respect of one
of the target land parcels and the buildings erected
thereon (the “Target Land and Buildings”) currently owned
by a subsidiary of YT Industrial, the Group shall sell the
entire equity interest in YT Industrial (the “Disposal of YT
Industrial”). The PRC property market was experiencing a
continuous downturn in 2023, and the Urban Renewal
Approval (as defined in the circular) has not yet been
obtained. As a result, the Disposal of YT Industrial has not
been materialized as at 31 December 2023. In the opinion
of the directors, the Disposal of YT Industrial, including the
relevant underlying assets in accordance with terms of the
Cooperation Agreement (the “Relevant Assets”), is not
expected to be completed within one year from 31
December 2023. Accordingly, the Relevant Assets
(including the Target Land and Buildings) were reclassified
back to property, plant and equipment as at 31 December
2023.

The major class of assets classified as held for sale as at 31
December 2022 is as follows:

21.

TERFFHENEE

BE(FEB)BEERAR(REEXE] AAR

AMEZENBAR - RZE_TFHANR -

AEBEETBYE = (EPaE)EE
Wk ([A1ERZ]) - Bt - BETOAEBIEY
EEL—EBETEFNEBEETAE  BESEK
SEEMBANSE TEEZHR BB ENS
TFZHE - Gt EREBETRETR S ([ZE
TN EEARBRRER - -_ZF+A+MW
BETZBRRENAS L E BREAE
HEEZERXRINE—THFBNIHRAADN
ARBHAE-_T_TERA+HRB ==
T E2EFtA+HWHEABE ZDFE=Z=F KA
—tmE - —E-—Ft+A+mWE ZTB=——

+—A—BR-ZE-_=FNA+_HHNAEE
BHA-—_ZE_ETFA-_tHWHEMNBER( A
) o

BIEAER:SE  mBATHEREEE —BMNBEAF
BANEFR BB SR MERE FAEF( B
ErHRETF])  AEBBHERETENEI
ERE(TEEEEXHRETHE]) - 2023FHEEH
EMSBEERE  URVEMATK(EERBE
) AR —ZE-—=F+_A=1+—HBEEE
¥HESHENAZRE -BFRE BEEEHE
FH(BERESEHRERNOEBEE(HH
BE])) BHE TN —E—=F+=-_A=+—
Biest—F Rk - Bt HHEAEE(BERE
iﬂ&@%ﬁkqgf¢+ B=t+t—H&%
HEME  BERK

RZB__F+-_A=+—BHoEAKIELE
MWEEZEERHMAT

2022
o

=

HK$'000
TATT

e

Property, plant and equipment

3,319
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22. TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

23.

128

22. ESEMNAFIE
RIBEHIK - Z 5 EMNZIERERE R PHNEER

Within three months =EAR
Three to six months =ZXEA
Over six months HiEs S E A

DATESAT
2023 2022
—=E_= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
70,683 89,194
13,315 13,351
4,409 801
88,407 103,346

The trade payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and are normally settled within three months from the
month-end of the date of invoice.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

BHRNFAREER T EAENERRA
Hi A 45 B AERT =8 A MASTY -

23. HEtENRERESEH

2023 2022
—=E_= T F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current BN EA

Other payables H ST 3R 28,531 18,717
Accruals fEstE A 37,712 47,166
Deferred income” FEIEUT A 1,912 2,399
68,155 68,282

Non-current JEENHA
Contractual amount received* BlE ez 110,350 111,950
Deferred income” PRIEUT A 7,503 8,330
117,853 120,280

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an
average term of three months.

A

Deferred income mainly represented (i) special funds of
HK$2,601,000 (2022: HK$3,022,000) granted by PRC government
authorities in relation to the construction of sewage treatment
facilities; and (ii) special funds of HK$761,000 (2022:
HK$1,421,000) granted by PRC government authorities in relation
to the Group’s purchase of certain machines for technology
advancement. The deferred income is recognised in profit or loss
over the expected useful lives of the relevant property, plant and
equipment.

Being amount received pursuant to certain conditions of the
Cooperation Agreement (note 21).

HiyENFERTEE - FHBERA=EA -

: B A E 25 () F BB E B 2R 5 KR I R &
T2 ¥k E$ 2,601,000/ 7T (= F = =4 : 3,022,000
BT - R() FEBAERMAKEEE S TR
MEBRE T ZHRES761,0008T( =T =%
1,421,000 70) * ZIEIERAZE BYE - BE R&
182 TEHA AT 5 A 4F AR R TERR o

* EIRIEA (RS T IR £ (R 21) -
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24. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2023
—E-=
Contractual
interest
rate (p.a.)
EHERR
Current BN
Secured trust receipt loans due for repayment within N/A

one year which contain repayment on demand clauses*

AR-EREENAERERUEEN FER

(BRRRLBERN

Secured bank loans due for repayment within one year® LPR®-0.4%
BR-ENERMAEARTERS LPR-04%  —B-RE

London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR")

Based on the scheduled repayment dates as set out in the respective
loan agreements/banking facility letters

The National Interbank Funding Center Loan Prime Rate (“LPR")
Denominated in US$

Denominated in RMB

Certain of the Group’s bank borrowings are secured by (i) the
Group's investment property with a carrying amount of
HK$5,804,000 (2022: HK$6,034,000) (note 14); and (ii) pledged
deposits with banks amounting to HK$31,874,000 (2022:
HK$31,522,000) (note 20).

24,

Maturity?
HER2

N/A

FER

2024

HBBTHER
2022
“E-CF

Contractual

interest
HK$'000 rate (p.a.) Maturity> ~ HK$'000
TEx BNENE HEA2 TAT
LIBOR' + 1.5% 2023 35,983

LIBOR" + 1.5% 2

35,983

g R ERITRZHF S ([LIBOR])
2 ERHEENERGE RITBEEHEMAERE

ERH
B 2ERITRRERET LERTEZRENE(LPR])
4 IASETTSIE

5 AARKSE

(a) REEE TRITERES R A EEEREE /35,804,000
BIT(ZT =4 : 6,034,000/87T) (M5 14) i EY
% RG)BEEF FRITHF 31,874,000 T (=2
— =4 : 31,522,000 7T ) (B 5E 20) YR # ©
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25. DEFERRED TAX

ot Lo = - 9F

25.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during

the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

Depreciation

i B IH

BEERIARBENEERFANEZMNT

EEREARE

allowances
in excess of
related Revaluation Withholding
depreciation of properties taxes Total
mERE
EBRERAITE ENEEY/ES FEHIBE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHET FAET FHET
At 1 January 2022 MN-ZE-_—F
=g =g (6) (8,168) (16,414) (24,588)
Deferred tax charged to RE AR Bz IR
profit or loss during HY IR ZE 7 18
the year (note 10) (BFEE10) (4) (89) (1,796) (1,889)
Exchange realignment bE 5 R - 695 - 695
At 31 December 2022 P =S =
and 1 January 2023 +-—A=+—H8X&
—Eo=F
—H—H (10) (7,562) (18,210) (25,782)
Deferred tax credited/ REARERE
(charged) to profit or A ($0BR)
loss during the year B IR 2 7 18
(note 10) (K$3E10) (203) 323 (2,493) (2,373)
Released upon distribution A9 IEME B2
of dividend R R - — 6,283 6,283
Exchange realignment bE H A - 106 - 106
At 31 December 2023 A== =
+=—A=+—8 (213) (7,133) (14,420) (21,766)
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. IEIEBIIE (&)
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE
Depreciation  Provision for
Provision in excess inventories Other
for accrued of related and trade deductible
staff welfare  depreciation and bills temporary
costs allowance receivables differences Total
7ERES
RABIRAN HEBREH EWFER H Aty AT
BARE TERE RERIBEE BRER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR AT THT TR THET
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE—_—F—H—H 2,499 2,876 1,609 2,939 9,923
Deferred tax credited/(charged) o AFRREZE A/ (F1K) 8

profit or loss during the year BT (MiFE10)

(note 10) 436 343 324 (940) 213
Exchange realignment B 5 A% (231) (257) (136) 212) (836)
At 31 December 2022 and R-E-_—_F+-A=+—H

1 January 2023 k=FT-=%—F—H 2,754 2,962 1,797 1,787 9,300
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ AERREE A/ (F1%) 8

profit or loss during the year EERE (M 10)

(note 10) 58 324 (167) 1 216
Exchange realignment [ 1 2 (40) (44) (22) (26) (132)
At 31 December 2023 NZBE-_=F+-fA=+—H 2,772 3,242 1,608 1,762 9,384

At 31 December 2023, the Group had tax losses arising in
Hong Kong of HK$5,449,000 (2022: HK$5,449,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of a subsidiary in Hong Kong in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of the tax losses as they have arisen in a
subsidiary that has been loss-making for some time and it
is currently not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.

The Group is liable to withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 5% for the Group.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

RIB-=%+"A=+—H AXEFREE
" 2 T 18 &5 18 5,449,0008 T ( —Z T = — F :
5,449,000787T) » AIHER AR ERIEELER

MIABRERDRCHIAEE - RARABTIEE
BLREEHE - RERZSERNREIRE
BTAF AR B AR AEBREEZ BRBUR
MzHBAE -

ZERPEAMK NN BRI —FT)\F
—A—BREENBNDIKEREE - AKBEAY
I - AEERERARER5% °

AR B A E AR S AR S B A P S TR R
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26.

27.

132

ot Lo = - 9F

SHARE CAPITAL 26. BRA
Shares i 2022
—E- %
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: JATE
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 10,000,000,000 % &% 0.01 7T
HK$0.01 each SRS 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
240,000,000 ordinary shares of 240,000,000 & &[%0.01 /87T
HK$0.01 each EORR NS 2,400

There was no movement in the Company’s share capital
during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme became
effective on 18 November 2014 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for ten years
from that date.

Any grant of share options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates, is required to be approved by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any grant
of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company or
any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time or with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company's shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, is subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within the date as specified in the offer letter issued by the
Company, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise period of any
option granted under the Scheme is determined by the
board of directors in its absolute discretion, save that no
option may be exercised more than ten years after it has
been granted.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
board of directors at its absolute discretion, but may not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average of the closing
prices of the Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

27.
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27.

28.

29.

—_—=——

—F-=F+-A=+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Further details of the Company’s share option scheme are
set out in the Report of the Directors.

No share options were granted during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022 and no share options under the
Scheme were outstanding as at 31 December 2023 and
2022.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group'’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 72
to 73 of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the capital contribution from
Mr. Chan Wing Yin and Mrs. Chan Yung by way of a
waiver of shareholders’ loan and the difference between
the consideration and the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest acquired.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

2023

27.

28.

29.

BBIRREST &l ()

BRESERTHAANBRBREIRBRAE
EERZZ R

AARBEEA B EZFHRHNESERS

HE-_Z_=FfK-_ZT-_—F+=-A=+—H

EFE - SESNEABERE MR T =%
RZZ-__F+-"A=+—8  ZETHER
P 1R R TAEE

e

EE’iIJE"Eﬁ’%iEﬁ% 72173 EE’J%?%%%EE@J
i o

NG
EARBBERAELCERNRBL T BBERRK
REFETHIEE R BRI E IR
sSAREE 2 M EHE -

RERERBRMEE

() BMEEZDELENEERS

—E-=F

Interest-
bearing bank
borrowings
FTERITER
HK$'000
FTHERT

Lease
liabilities
HEAE

HK$’000
FHET

At 1 January 2023

Changes from financing cash flows
New leases

Interest expense

Interest paid included in operating

ﬁ\
N—=—=

g
BRI

s =
zﬂéfﬁé/ﬁi )

BRELLREREN

35,983
(2,653)

2,545
(1,681)
1,326
= 95

(95)

cash flows EAFLE
Exchange realignment b 5, R B
At 31 December 2023 RZEBEZ=F+"A=+—H
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29.

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

mEEERERMET @)

(a) METFDELNEERE(E)

2022 —EF=-=
Interest-
bearing bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
FTESRITIER HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At 1 January 2022 R_ZE__F—H—H 32,010 2,190
Changes from financing cash flows FI&EIR & RmEEH) 3,973 (1,703)
New leases HE = 2,058
Interest expense FERXZ = 73
Interest paid included in BRELLEHSRENENHE
operating cash flows = (73)
At 31 December 2022 R-F-_—_F+=-A=t+—H 35,983 2,545

Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows is as follows:

(b)

(b) HEABRESRH
HERRSRLFARSRERDT

2022
T

HK$'000

FAETT

Within operating activities KRR 73

Within financing activities BB EBA 1,703

1,776

(c) Major non-cash transactions () EXFREXRS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions RERN AEERETYWENHEHER

to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$1,326,000 (2022: HK$2,058,000) and
HK$1,326,000 (2022: HK$2,058,000), respectively,
in respect of lease arrangements for certain
properties.

30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 30.

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings, which are secured
by certain assets of the Group, are included in note 24 to
the financial statements.
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31.

32.

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:

i
RIREER - REMAATERALE -

2022
a HK_$BOO
FAT
Contracted, but not provided for: EEEEES T
Construction and purchases of items EENEEDE BER
of property, plant and equipment Bai-lE 761

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

32. EBARS

(@) The Group had the following transactions with a (a) AEBERERNEBHETHETTIRS
related party during the year:
2022
Note HK$'000
B 5E THETT
A related company: 2] /NG
Lease liabilities paid BENEESE (i) 1,776

Note: MIsE -

(i) During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the (i) HE-_T-_=FR-FT-_—_F+=-A=+—8H
rentals were charged by Yantek Electronics Company Limited IHEE  BEEFERAR(TERE]) (KEEHN
(“Yantek”), a related company of the Group, owned as to BAEEAT] - BFRBENE A BREKEE(BE A
33% by Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and 34% by Mr. Chan Yan RATES) REENZ+ (RE 4 BEE
Wing, who are the directors of the Company, and 33% by KA E BB ER) 5 RIS 33% * 34% 1% 33% HE
Ms. Chan Yan Sam, the sister of Mr. Chan Yan Kwong and 7 ) BB AN 5 B B B 1R BT 7 0 7 & 1 i R AR
Mr. Chan Yan Wing, in accordance with the tenancy %o
agreements entered into between the Group and Yantek.

Interest on lease liabilities of HK$95,000 (2022: HK$73,000) HE_ZT-_=—F+-A=+—ALFE B
and depreciation of right-of-use assets of HK$1,692,000 RAELHHAEE EFE95000E (=2
(2022: HK$1,692,000) were recognised during the year 73000 T ) RIEAEEENE
ended 31 December 2023 in respect of the lease 1,692,000/ T ( Z 2= =4 : 1,692,000/87T) °
arrangements.

(b) Other transaction with a related party (b) EHREEAFETHNEMRS

A director of the Company received a sales
commission of HK$4,936,000 (2022: HK$4,356,000)
for his services provided to the Group during the
year based on 3%-12% (2022: 3%-12%) of the
transaction amounts.

FR - ARR—ZEZTARAEERER
7% S S £ 4,936,000 T (==
% :4,356,0005870) 0 £BIIBRER
SEHN3%E1NR%(ZE-_—_F:3% &
12%) 515 °
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32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 32. BHARE (E)

() Compensation of key management () FXEEBFTEEEAESNHME:
personnel of the Group:

2023 2022
—=_-= —E -
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Short term employee benefits =R B @A 16,973 16,613
Post-employment benefits B E T 54 >4
Total compensation paid to ENEZEEBAER
key management personnel B 17,027 16,667
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's EERFETHABFTMEE —FFEH
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial RIS RKMIES ©
statements.
(d) Particulars of the amount due to a related company (d) FEREEEARIFIEFBNAT
are as follows:
2023 2022
—s—-= —EC-CF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Lease liabilities due to a related company FEfS Rt AR E &G
(note 32(a)(i)) (FF5E32(a)0)) 2,190 2,545
The related party transaction in respect of note 32(a)(i) b B 3 32(a)) 2 BB T 2 5 TN RS AR _E T 45 Bl
above also constitutes a continuing connected transaction FUUABEREZHEBERS -

as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. REFBINEMTA

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:
Trade and bills receivables
Financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

2023
:@:E
HK$°000
FHT
HHREE
RN AT ENT B EE
Z 5 e A & fE U = ik 188,953
STATERM A « BE REHAM
FEWFIBH A E
512
BT 31,874
ReERIBEEEY 462,796

684,135

Financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income:
Equity instrument designated as such
upon initial recognition

BAHE AR EERES
M BEE
¥E RE ) 2 HE R By ) AR

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

IA 3,928
688,063
H®AaE
BB HEA AT BRI IS B (& -
S ENFB 88,407
STAEMENRIBEREEA
MY AaE 36,288
T BIRITIE K 33,105
HEaE 2,190

159,990

RESEZRERAQA / £, 2023

BFHERTARNREMROREERIIDT

2022
o —

—_—=

HK$'000
TAT

212,778

506
31,522
377,555

622,361

4,019

626,380

103,346
34,243

35,983
2,545

176,117
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

138

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade and bills
receivables, trade payables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, and financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals
reasonably approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities of these instruments or
the effect of discounting is not material.

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, the chief financial officer analyses the movements in
the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The directors review
the results of the fair value measurement of financial
instruments for annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of interest-bearing borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

For the fair value of the unlisted equity investment,
management of the Group has estimated the fair value of
the investment using an asset-based approach as its major
asset is a property held for self-use and the investee is yet
to have sufficient earnings history to support the use of
other approaches. The value of this property is adjusted to
its fair value at the end of each reporting period for the
purpose of determining the Group’s share of adjusted net
asset value and fair value of the investment.

34.
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. ERIANDAFERATFERERE)
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy AHERER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIFAEBEHMTANRTEFEER

hierarchy of the Group'’s financial instruments:

Fair value measurement using

ERAUTEABBNAFENE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs Total
ERWYE BEAUERE EATAUHE
mE WARE B AEE st
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(E—#R) (=) (B=4)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET F#ET F#&xT
Asset measured at BRAFEEFE
fair value: HEE :
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE_=F
+=-—A=+—8
Financial asset at fair value %A (B AHAM
through other e e
comprehensive income EE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE——F
+=—A=+—8H
Financial asset at fair value %A (EzH A Hib
through other e EE0p
comprehensive income BE - - 4,019 4,019
A significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the ERREHRNREY X 2 AT ENKIEE
investee’s investment property would result in a significant moCRD) BRI LMBRERE 2 ATFEKR
increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the unlisted equity g, Cld) e
investment.
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 3. ERMIANDAFERATFERERE)
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued) DNRERBR(E)
The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 REANFE=FHNAFEFELEHOT ¢

during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
—E—= —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial asset at fair value through BATEFAREMEE
other comprehensive income W H B TS & B
— unlisted: — JEET
At 1 January Rn—H—H 4,440
Fair value loss recognised in other PRE b 2 U 2 FERR A
comprehensive income NHEBE (35)
Exchange realignment HE 5 8B (386)
At the end of year FR 4,019
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at RN_BE—_=F+-_A=+—BKk=_ZT_—F+—=
fair value as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December A=+—8  AEEWEE(TRAFETZNH
2022. BamE-
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value FR - RPBEEMS F—REF_HZEH
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no J|EANTEFAENER - E=RIEE A E
transfers into or out of Level 3 for financial assets (2022: H(ZE——F:4) o
Nil).

Fair value measurement using
EAUTEABEN L FEFNE
Quoted
prices  Significant  Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
ERmE  BEAUERE EATUTER
HE (7PN ¢ WA RS
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(B—%) (B=%&) (E=8)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TERT TR

Liabilities for which fair HEAFENER :
values are disclosed:

At 31 December 2023 =58 = ==
T=AE
Interest-bearing bank T BRI TIE K
borrowings 33,105 33,105
At 31 December 2022 R-ZZE_—F
+=A=+—8H
Interest-bearing bank AT BIRTTIE K
borrowings - 35,983 - 35,983
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly arise

directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and

they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-

bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
(through the impact on interest-bearing bank borrowings

with floating interest rates).

35.

MHEREEBERBE

AEETZSHMTATZERRNELE -

AEBEeRTAEENIZARANX
R SRR EERRERBDE R
R-ZEEZ2FHMREAEEEESEEZ
EFRBABOR - M FBRBALAT ©

A 2= m by
AEEEHETSEMNEEHORME R A
REEHZEN XN BRITENERE -

TERBE(BBEIHMNENFEBRTE
REET)AEEGHAGN(EME EAM
RETET) BAESIBA L BB GURE o

Increase/
(decrease)

in profit
before tax

R %R Al s A
#hn, CRL)
HK$°000
FHET

Increase/
(decrease) in
basis points
B,
(R2)

2023 —E-=F

Renminbi AR (166)
Renminbi AR 166
2022 —E-=

United States dollars =T 50 (180)
United States dollars ET (50) 180
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. BIBEREERZERBUR (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk S L B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Those ZIK SEEHEXSEBER  ZFER }J?EA
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units & iE By L/( ZENH I Hb B A AN E!’J
in currencies other than the units’ functional currencies. %L TEBE - AEEMNFELENEA
The Group’s main operating subsidiaries are located in UREAERTE A MAEENESE ‘I
Hong Kong and Mainland China and the Group’s sales and BPETT - ARBRETH#ET ©
purchases were mainly conducted in HK$, RMB and US$.
The RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future ARBIWIIFBEHLBLEEK  AREHRR
exchange rates of the RMB could vary significantly from XA RTRBEINERKZESHmER
the current or historical exchange rates as a result of the A BAFEXRERAE A EXRJA X
changes in the PRC foreign currency policy. The exchange BANMNMBERRBAEHURARE
rates may also be affected by economic developments and E’J HEAEE ARBRBIRET ﬂ B
political changes domestically and internationally, and the YR ENSHAREE 2 REFEENTE
demand and supply of the RMB. The appreciation or
devaluation of RMB against HK$ and US$ may have an
impact on the operating results of the Group.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end T & 5N B R S HA R AN & B BR B AT s A (2R
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in BEABTRERLFENERIAE)HAR
the RMB exchange rates, with all other variables held & & & HZ’I REBERMZH(AEMMHAE#H
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (arising from HERTE)NBRE - BRERB BN KNE
US$ and HK$ denominated financial instruments). There is BiESMESFE -
no impact on the Group's equity except on the retained
profits.
2023 —Eg-=
If HK$ weakens against RMB i 78 7T i, AR EE T Bk
If HK$ strengthens against RMB BT AREE EF
If US$ weakens against RMB R H ARET®
If US$ strengthens against RMB fHETT AR EF
2022 —E-—F
If HK$ weakens against RMB WE T ARE TR 5 (7)
If HK$ strengthens against RMB AT AR EF (5) 7
If US$ weakens against RMB WMETEARE T K 5 (6,361)
If US$ strengthens against RMB fMETHARKE EH (5) 6,361
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. B EMEEBEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk EERR

Maximum exposure and year-end staging e R R FREE

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum T 2’% BAIRTZA=1+—H EREA5E
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, EERRNEEEZERAENESFEE
which is mainly based on past due information unless ER(FZERBAEINEBRER KRIEFEM
other information is available without undue cost or effort, BATEBAINBEXAIB NN HRER)
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The RERBEERSBR - 27N BRMBKEE
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial HBEREARME -

assets.

At 31 December 2023 R=B-=%+=-H=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

2HRBEEER

Simplified
Stage 2 Stage3 approach Total
PEER 1 PEFR2 PEFR3 L% st
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$°000
THET FTHER FHERT FTHET THET

Trade and bills receivables* B 5 EBGRIE R
EHEE 17,803 174,892 192,695

Financial assets included in FTABNRIE - &e

prepayments, deposits and R E At FE YR IE B

other receivables BB E

— Normal** = ek ™ 512 512
Pledged deposits BEHEMIFR

— Not yet past due — R 31,874 31,874
Cash and cash equivalents RekBFeEED

— Not yet past due — K 462,796 462,796

512,985 174,892 687,877
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35.

144

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  35.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

At 31 December 2022

i

MEREERERRRBE®)

il

EEmEE ()
R AR R FRBEER(E)

R=-B-=%+=-HF=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1216 A
TEHf
EEEE ZHEHEEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PRER 1 fEE% 2 PEER 3 974 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FHET FHET FHET
Trade and bills receivables* B 5 EWIE R
FEUEE * - - - 217,602 217,602
Financial assets included in FTAEME - &E
prepayments, deposits and N Ho At B WGTRIB K
other receivables BIsEE
— Normal** — EE** 506 - - - 506
Pledged deposits BRI
— Not yet past due — K@ 31,522 - - - 31,522
Cash and cash equivalents Re kR eEEY
— Not yet past due — Ry 377 555 - - - 377,555
409,583 = — 217602 627,185
b For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the * BAEBEREERELCFEERENE S ERKZER

simplified approach for impairment, information based on the
provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

x* The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES M EEEREEERBUR (&)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which
comprise trade and bills receivables, pledged deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, and financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 27.1%
(2022: 41.2%) and 62.7% (2022: 73.0%) of the Group’s
trade and bills receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and five largest customers, respectively.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings. The Group’s policies are to regularly
monitor the current and expected liquidity requirements,
and to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and available banking facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity profile of the Group'’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

FERR (&)
AEEMBEE(BRESBEAREARRE
WEE CERER BeRhBSEEY
ARFIATEAN KA 22 R E R RIA
CHBAE)MEERBREREFE SR
EARBEESENZETANKEE -

REEP/HFHEEGEETEKR . RR
EHRR $%IE%3F1C.,%EPJ‘LB» HARE
EEZEUFEREREES  551H27.1%
(=% Mz%mwzws_z:: :
73.0%) EWAEBSEARAARF °

AEEMBERERMNABRITERERES
MFELEBEEE 2 YE - AEBENBE
REHEFRRERBHRRGESR R KU
BRELFAVESHBRTRRITRE
NmRE AR AR ESFR -

Less than 1to5
1 year years Total
DR—F —ZEHF st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET

2023 —E-=F

Trade payables B IR

Financial liabilities included in

other payables and accruals 6y HM%ETE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER
Lease liabilities HEAE

AR A A 3R N EF T B

88,407 88,407

36,288 36,288
33,745 33,745
1,686 2,266

160,126 160,706
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

146

AND POLICIES (continued)

35. BIEREEEERBE®)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBEERER(E)
On Less than 1t05
demand 1 year years Total
RENKER PR—F —Z2hF BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT FHETT FET
2022 —E__F
Trade payables 2B SN IR - 103,346 - 103,346
Financial liabilities included in ST AR fthfEf TRIE N ST E B
other payables and accruals e aRE - 34,243 - 34,243
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5+ ERITER 35,983 = = 35,983
Lease liabilities HEARE = 1,660 990 2,650
35,983 139,249 990 176,222
Capital management EXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group'’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or
raise new capital from its investors. The Group is required
to comply with certain externally imposed capital
requirements set out in certain of its bank loan
agreements/bank facility letters. No changes were made in
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
total debt divided by total equity. Total debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
are as follows:

AEEEREANTIEZBENRRE

EAaFIHmEKER

NS
h AREBEBOER

HE - UXFEBRFRMEARREE -

AEBFRERKRERAABSHMEREE
BREFLHAE  RERAAERELRRE
2%

N

A

AEEAEABNTRROKEXAE
BEEENMER - AEHEABTEH TR
B IRITRE S AESIRE TIMNBRE

MERRE - RBE

rKZE—-—

— = —

=

BEE  BMRIIEFREZS -

=#+—-_A=+—H
E+-_A=1+—HIFE EEEARN

AEEREEAGBLR(NAREKHRNAE
fm) EEERN - REBEEBRITER

RBMERRZEERBLRHIINT :

2022

e
HK$'000
FHET
Interest-bearing bank borrowings TERITER 35,983
Total debt 1BIETS 35,983
Total equity B 683,398
Gearing ratio BEAMRLE 0.05

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



Notes to Financial Statements

B R TS

31 December 2023 —ZE—-=F+_-HA=+—H

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36.

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as

follows:

RRATFBMBARRR

REIERRA R R BEARRRAERT -

2023
—Zg=-=

HK$'000

FHBxT

NON-CURRENT ASSET

Investment in a subsidiary

FRBEE
R—EERREIRE

CURRENT ASSETS RENEE

Due from subsidiaries RS NGIE 117,491
Prepayments SRR 310
Cash and cash equivalents HekBEeEEY 738
Total current assets MEBELE 118,539
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBE

Other payables and accruals HiuERIE R EER 1,604

Due to a subsidiary

JEA — P B 2 Bl FUA

51,511

53,115

65,424

65,425

2,400
63,025

Total current liabilities MBI B EERE
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE
Net assets BEFE
EQUITY =

Issued capital BEBITRA
Reserves (note) fE i (I aE)
Total equity HarE s

65,425

2022
o

—_—=

HK$'000
TAT

112,109
309
301

112,719

1,132
46,640

47,772

64,947

64,948

2,400
62,548

64,948
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

37.

148

THE COMPANY (continued)

36. AR TR E (&)

Note: BT
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RRRFHEHRENT :
Retained
Share profits/
premium (accumulated
account losses) Total
REBER,
B RER (R5HE58) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT
At 1 January 2022 R—ZT—_—_F—H—H 62,609 (1,762) 60,847
Profit and total comprehensive income FREA R 2SR
for the year - 16,101 16,101
2021 final dividend —E—FRERE = (14,400) (14,400)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H8k
—E-_=%#—H—H 62,609 61) 62,548
Profit and total comprehensive income G A A N 2 T e AR FE
for the year - 29,277 29,277
2022 final dividend T FREERE - (28,800) (28,800)
At 31 December 2023 R=ZTE=_=F+=A=+—H 62,609 416 63,025

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 25 March 2024.

37. #HEMBERR

PBBRRER _ZT_NE=-A_THEEE=S
SHUE R -

Yan Tat Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



B —

This Annual Report is printed on environmentally friendly paper

N
EO RERBREED



	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman's Statement
	Financial Highlights
	Financial Summary
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Directors and Senior Management Profile
	Corporate Governance Report
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor's Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to Financial Statements
	Back Cover



